

Magdelena Nyland

The pursuit of a response to the refugee crisis

The case of the EU-Turkey Statement

Master's thesis in European studies Supervisor: Wolfram Kaiser Trondheim, May 2018





Magdelena Nyland

The pursuit of a response to the refugee crisis

The case of the EU-Turkey Statement

Master's thesis in European studies Supervisor: Wolfram Kaiser Trondheim, May 2018

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Humanities Department of Historical Studies



Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Wolfram Kaiser, for guiding me through the process of writing my master's thesis, providing me with useful advice. Further, I would like to thank my family who have supported me through this process with endless encouragement and belief that I would succeed. A special thanks goes to my father, who knew me well enough to know that European studies was a perfect fit for me, and who encouraged me to apply for this master's degree. I am also grateful to my classmates for numerous days together at our study hall, filled with encouragement, laughter and good conversations. Last, but certainly not least, an immense thanks goes to my boyfriend who has stood by me these past two years during my master's degree, providing me with endless amounts of chocolate and comfort on my days of frustration and discouragement.

Magdelena Nyland Trondheim, 11 May 2018

Contents

Acknowledgements	i
Abbreviations	v
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Topic and Research Question	1
State of the art	3
Relevance of this research	8
Concepts and Methodology	8
Overview of the structure and main findings	11
Chapter 2: A Brief History of the European Union's Asylum and Migration Policies	13
From Schengen to Lisbon	13
Since the Stockholm Programme	21
Chapter 3: EU actors and the refugee crisis	25
The Crisis of the Dublin Regulation and Member States' reactions	25
Reforms under the EU Agenda on Migration	28
Chapter 4: Motivation for the bilateral agreement	33
The EU-Turkey Statement; an exception to the rule	33
From unwanted accession country to crucial partner	34
The EU-Turkey Statement – implementation of the agreement	38
Motivation for the EU-Turkey Statement	40
Chapter 5: EU policy development on asylum and migration	49
Uneven distribution as a lasting problem	49
Externalisation as a solution?	50
Securitisation or Normative Power Europe?	51
New intergovernmentalism: Member States as prominent actors	52
Chapter 6: Conclusion	57
List of references	61

Abbreviations

AMIF Asylum, Migration and Integration Fund **CAMM** Common Agenda on Migration and Mobility **CEAS** Common European Asylum System **CoE** Council of Europe **CJEU** Court of Justice of the European Union **CSDP** Common Security and Defence Policy **EASO** European Asylum Support Office **EC** European Community **ECJ** European Court of Justice **ECHR** European Convention on Human Rights **ECtHR** European Court of Human Rights EP **European Parliament ERF** European Refugee Fund \mathbf{EU} European Union FRONTEX European Border and Coast Guard Agency **GAMM** Global Approach on Migration and Mobility JHA Justice and Home Affairs MP Mobility Partnership **MEP** Member of the European Parliament **NGO** Non-Governmental Organisation **PACE** Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe **UNHCR** United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees QMV Quality Majority Voting

AFSJ Area of Freedom, Security and Justice

Chapter 1: Introduction

Topic and Research Question

In the years 2015-2016, Europe experienced an unprecedented influx of migrants and refugees, a process that soon was coined the 'refugee crisis'. War and conflict in the Middle East and in sub-Saharan regions of Africa has largely been to blame for the high numbers of displaced people, many of whom seek refuge in Europe. In 2015 and 2016 alone, 2,4 million first time asylum seekers applied for international protection in the Member States of the European Union (EU) (Eurostat, 2016b, 2017b). EU policies have been put to the test in trying to manage the high influx of migrants. The Dublin Regulation – aimed at determining the country responsible for the asylum seeker – quickly proved insufficient in handling the situation. The Regulation contributed to a heavy burden of the refugee crisis ending up in the frontline Member States of the EU, in particular Italy and Greece.

The focal point of the refugee crisis has been the flow of refugees crossing the Mediterranean to reach Europe, many losing their lives on the journey (UNHCR, 2018). From 2015 to 2017, more than 1,5 million people travelled this route, most heading for Italy or Greece. The Dublin Regulation resulted in a 'double burden' on the frontline Member States. Being a frontline Member State, these were the first countries of entry for a large number of migrants. The Dublin Regulation also often results in the return of asylum seekers to the first EU Member State the asylum seeker applied for asylum, in these instances commonly Italy and Greece (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013, p. 37). The function of the Dublin Regulation, along with the uncontrolled arrival of migrants and asylum seekers over the Mediterranean, resulted in a disproportionate amount of pressure on the frontline Member States who bore the weight of processing the many asylum applications.

The EU has implemented various measures in an attempt to deal with the refugee crisis. In 2015, the Commission set out the European Agenda on Migration, presenting immediate and long term actions to handle the pressure (European Commission, 2015b). So-called 'hotspots' were created in places where the pressure was highest, to provide experts and more efficiently process the migrants entering the EU. Saving lives at sea was a main priority. The budgets for Operations Triton and Poseidon, led by the European Border and Coast Guard Agency

(Frontex)¹, were tripled in order to assist Italy and Greece save lives in the Mediterranean. An emergency relocation scheme was set up to ease the burden on the frontline Member States. This proposal has only been partially successful, as several member states opposed the scheme, and the results have been underwhelming. By November 2017, roughly 31,500 people had been relocated out of the 120,000 planned (European Commission, 2017d). Despite the measures taken, the Member States are still unable to evenly share the load of the many asylum seekers entering the EU. The main burden is still on the frontline Member States, in particular Greece.

Perhaps the most notable recent EU action concerning asylum and migration is the EU-Turkey Statement, which forms the empirical focus of this thesis. The Statement takes the form of an agreement between the EU and Turkey, aiming at limiting large flows of migrants in reaching the EU. From now on, for simplicity's sake, the Statement will be referred to as the Agreement, as the word 'statement' is not representative for what the deal entails. More specifically, the Agreement aims at limiting the number of migrants crossing from Turkey to Greece. The agreement has been fiercely debated in Europe, and has been sharply criticised by human rights organisations as a breach on fundamental rights of refugees (The Netherlands Institute for Human Rights, 2017, pp. 3, 10). This seems to contradict the traditional view of the nature of the EU. The EU has traditionally been viewed as having a strong commitment to human rights. This has contributed to the notion of the EU being a normative power, i.e. that the EU is a value-driven ideational entity that diffuses these norms in their international relations (Manners, 2002). This leads to questions of how and why the EU and its Member States selected the use of such a controversial bilateral cooperation agreement in a complex refugee crisis, and how this measure is justified by the EU.

Against this background, the core research question of this thesis is why the EU has resorted to the EU-Turkey bilateral agreement in response to the refugee crisis. To answer this question, three sub-questions are defined. First, how did EU asylum policy develop up until the refugee crisis? Second, the thesis asks what the EU's response to the refugee crisis has been. And third, what motivated the EU to resort to the bilateral agreement with Turkey?

-

¹ The creation of a common external border called for further cooperation concerning security, migration and asylum. Frontex was created as the European Agency for the Management of Operational Cooperation at the External Borders of the Member States of the European Union, renamed in 2016 the European Border and Coast Guard Agency, to manage the EU's external borders.

State of the art

This section critically discusses previous research relevant for the thesis. The focus is on research that contributes to explain why the EU has resorted to the bilateral agreement in a response to the refugee crisis. First, the thesis will address the emergence of the common European asylum and migration policy. Second, the thesis will narrow in on literature concerning distribution of asylum seekers and externalisation of policies. It was found that research on EU asylum and migration policy relating to the bilateral agreement with Turkey have a particular focus on these two topics (Bordignon & Moriconi, 2017; Cherubini, 2017; Salazar, 2017; E. Thielemann, 2018; Zaun, 2017). Additionally, they represent the two main controversial aspects of EU policy on asylum and migration, and contribute to explain what instigated the EU's move to bilateral cooperation. Lastly, a brief overview of research on the bilateral agreement with Turkey is given to get an understanding of the gap this thesis seeks to fill.

Since the beginning of European cooperation on asylum and migration policy, scholars have tried to explain the shift from national policy to intergovernmental policy, as well as find out whether the EU's policy on the area is more restrictive than the domestic policy. Because of the interconnectedness of the two issues, it is common in literature to refer to them together as 'EU asylum and migration policy' (Kaunert & Léonard, 2012). EU cooperation on asylum and migration policy has for long been accused of forming a 'Fortress Europe'. Drawing on criticism from the United States of the planned European internal market in the 1980s, this term was coined by Geddes (2000). It refers to the notion that Europe through restrictive measures is building a fortress for themselves, shutting out outsiders. This term has also been linked to the EU's asylum and migration policy. Since the 1990s, migration has increasingly been viewed as a security threat to receiving countries, on the grounds of it being linked to crime, terrorism or Islamic fundamentalism (Boswell, 2003b, p. 623). It has therefore commonly been argued that EU cooperation on asylum and migration has led to restrictive policies in the respective areas, making it increasingly difficult for asylum seekers to reach European territory (Lavenex, 2001; E. Thielemann & El-Enany, 2010; Zaun, 2017).

The 'Fortress Europe' concept has led to approaches aimed at understanding the origins of this restrictiveness. One of these approaches is the *venue-shopping* framework. This is a framework used to explain the emergence of a common EU policy on asylum and migration. It was most notably put forward by Guiraudon (2000). She suggested that venue-shopping is the framework best suited to explain the timing, form and content of EU cooperation on this area.

The notion of venue-shopping builds on the idea that national governments, when encountering obstacles in their policy-making, seek alternative venues that facilitate their goals. National officials wanted a more restrictive asylum and migration policy than they were able to conduct on the national level. Guiraudon argues that national law and order officials began seeking the European venue of policy-making when they met obstacles in developing increased migration controls in the 1980s and 1990s (Guiraudon, 2000, p. 252). At the European level of policy-formation, policy makers were not under the same jurisdictional constraints as in national policy-development. They also dealt with less opposition from ministries, parliamentarians and non-governmental organisations (NGOs) (Guiraudon, 2000, p. 252). Based on this framework, it was predicted that EU policy on asylum and migration would be more restrictive than the national policies. It was thought that EU policy would settle at the lowest common denominator, leading to a 'race to the bottom' among the Member States. They would strive for the most restrictive policy allowed by the EU to deter migrants from choosing their respective country as a destination (Zaun, 2017, p. 4).

However, there is disagreement in the research community whether EU policy on asylum and migration has become increasingly restrictive or not. The prediction of increased restrictiveness is contested by scholars such as Zaun (2017), Kaunert and Leonard (2012) and Thielemann and El-Nany (2010). Thielemann and El-Nany establish that there is no evidence to support the claim that a common EU policy has led to notably restrictive refugee protection and policies. On the contrary, the standards of refugee protection and policies have either remained the same or in some instances been strengthened (Kaunert & Léonard, 2012, p. 1402; E. Thielemann & El-Enany, 2010, p. 226; Zaun, 2016; 2017, p. 5).

Kaunert and Léonard (2012) argue that the increase in standards is a result of strengthened EU institutions and judiciary, as well as changes in their system following adoptions of new treaties (pp. 1409-1410). Zaun (2016) argues further that these adoptions can be credited to strong Northern States' influence on decision making in the EU. They were not prone to lower their standards for EU's asylum and migration policies, but would rather preserve a *status quo*. The incorporation of their standard level into EU policy would lead to an increase of standards in certain (Southern) Member States, as their standards in the outset was beneath that of the Northern ones. However, Zaun argues that many states have not been able to implement the new directives in practice, or have been unwilling to do so. Thus the harmonisation of policies might not be as successful as it seems (Zaun, 2017, pp. 210-221).

An area in the migration and asylum policy that has proven difficult to harmonise is the distribution of asylum seekers. This has been a high standing issue since the outset of the common EU asylum and migration policy (Trauner, 2016). The equal distribution of asylum seekers in the EU has proven to be a difficult task. Research has been conducted on how the failure of the 'sharing' of migrants within the EU has resulted in the need for alternative measures to ease the burden on certain EU Member States. Uçarer (2006) argues that one of the reasons for the failure of even distribution is its weak position as a norm in the asylum regime (p. 223). No concrete and automatic mechanism is in place to ensure the even distribution of asylum seekers. Resettlement programs are scattered, and in situations of mass influx, there is no system to ensure aid to countries faced with disproportionate burdens.

The difficulty of evenly distributing migrants is not a new phenomenon in Europe (Barutciski & Suhrke, 2001; Boswell, 2003a; E. Thielemann, 2003; Uçarer, 2006). The Kosovo refugee crisis, instigated by the implosion of Yugoslavia, left refugees stranded for days without getting protection from European states. This highlighted the conflict between refugees' rights and state interests. It kick-started a conversation on the distribution problem in terms of asylum applications in Europe, led by Germany, who had taken the main toll of asylum seekers from Kosovo (Barutciski & Suhrke, 2001; Uçarer, 2006, p. 43).

Thielemann (E. Thielemann, 2018) argues that the EU has been unable to work out a way of distributing asylum seekers evenly, despite their efforts. The EU has indeed seen a significant increase in arrivals of migrants since 2015, but this is not the sole reason even distribution has proven difficult in the EU. In fact, Thielemann emphasises that the EU's relative 'burden' of migrants on a global scale is generally low, e.g. compared to countries in the immediate vicinity of conflict countries such as Syria (p. 66). He presents the uneven distribution as an instigator for certain efforts made by the EU in order to rather externalise the burden of asylum seekers to third countries, as exemplified by the EU-Turkey agreement (p. 64).

Thielemann further points out EU policy measures as themain reason why the even distribution of asylum seekers has failed (pp. 63-64). The Dublin Regulation has regularly been criticised for putting a disproportionate amount of pressure on the Southern European border countries (Zaun, 2017, p. 4). Thielemann (2003, 2018) points to the Dublin Regulation for contributing to the lopsided distribution of migrants. In turn, it provides legitimisation to efforts of externalisation, such as the EU-Turkey Agreement (E. Thielemann, 2018; Uçarer, 2006, p. 231). Zaun (2017) argues that the EU-Turkey Agreement is an external compensatory measure

to make up for the EU's incapacity to establish a fully functioning mechanism to distribute asylum seekers in the EU (p. 254).

This brings us to the externalisation of EU asylum and migration policies. Previous research on this area contributes to explain why externalisation and bilateral cooperation has become such a big part of EU policy on asylum and migration. The EU-Turkey Agreement is an example of externalisation of EU policy on the area of asylum and migration. Gammeltoft-Hansen (2007) describes externalisation, or extraterritorial policies, as "structural efforts carried out by European States to extend their policy reach on asylum and migration issues outside their territory" (p. 1). According to him, externalisation of asylum and migration policy by the EU is done in order to deflect the burden that asylum seekers inflict on Europe by extending it to third countries.

Gammeltoft-Hansen (2007) further states that this way of managing migrant flows is one of the most striking developments of the common European asylum and migration policy. Previous research on externalisation of EU policy on asylum and migration has emphasised the risk of neglecting migrant's fundamental rights in resorting to these kinds of security measures to stem irregular migration (Andrijasevic, 2006; Gammeltoft-Hansen, 2007; Garlick, 2006; Klepp, 2010; Lavenex, 2001; López-Sala & Godenau, 2016). López-Sala and Godenau argue that restrictive migration policies cast doubt on the legitimacy of migration control, as it is caught between refugee protection and state interests of internal security (López-Sala & Godenau, 2016).

Gammeltoft-Hansen (2007)fears externalisation of asylum and migration policy is giving rise to a 'protection lite', in which more developed European states with a global reach can exploit the refugee regime. This may cause refugee protection to deteriorate, as "protection may fall within the formal requirements of the 1951 Refugee Convention, yet with substantially fewer calories than the protection owed by European States directly" (p. 23). When the responsibility of refugee protection is transferred to less developed states, states with poor human rights records or less developed asylum systems, it will affect the quality of the protection provided. In turn, a 'protection lite' regime is established. Zaun states that the EU is economically better equipped than many of the countries in the neighbourhood of conflict countries, which includes Turkey (Zaun, 2017, p. 255). The transfer of responsibility of asylum seekers to Turkey through the EU-Turkey Agreement is therefore criticised.

Research on the actual bilateral agreement with Turkey is limited. This can largely be attributed to the agreement only being active since March 2016, and the Agreement is ongoing.

The research that has been conducted has for the most part addressed the issue of maintaining human rights or the legality of the Agreement (Bordignon & Moriconi, 2017; Cherubini, 2017; Haferlach & Kurban, 2017; Nakache & Losier, 2017; Poon, 2016; Rygiel, Baban, & Ilcan, 2016). It covers the consequences of the bilateral cooperation with Turkey, concerning human rights and refugee protection.

There has been significant contestation of the legality of the readmissions from Greece to Turkey, in particular whether the procedural framework to safeguard the principle of *non-refoulement* is sufficient (Cherubini, 2017). Gammeltoft-Hansen argues that the externalisation of asylum policy is an attempt by states at ridding themselves of the obligations of refugee protection (2007, p. 5). This might be perceived as a harsh statement, but it is not an uncommon one. The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) had a similar statement, when referring to the return of refugees to 'safe third countries'. If proper safeguards are not set up, "it would be a clear case of avoiding responsibilities", in addition to a breach in the *non-refoulement* principle (UNHCR 2003, cited in Uçarer, 2006, p. 232). The *non-refoulement* principle is considered the core of the refugee protection regime, enshrined in Article 33 of the Refugee Convention. States are obliged "[...] not to send back, or *refouler*, a refugee to a place in which he or she risks persecution" (Gammeltoft-Hansen, 2007, p. 4). When a refugee enters the territory of any country party to the Refugee Convention, this country is obliged not to return the refugee to a country where he/she is not safe.

Cherubini (2017) argues that "[...] it is questionable that a person who was returned to Turkey would not face the risk of persecution or any other serious violation of his/her fundamental human rights" (p. 42). The EU has on several occasions accused Turkey of human rights violations. The attempted coup in July 2016 led to an increasing oppressive authoritarian regime led by President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan. This has resulted in calls from the UN, the Council of Europe and the EU for Turkey to respect their international obligations for constitutional order and international human rights law, but the situation is still deteriorating (Human Rights Watch, 2017; Reuters, 2017; Stockholm Center for Freedom, 2018). Thus, it may seem contradictory to send refugees back to that very country, as it may be argued that in returning refugees to Turkey, Article 33 of the Refugee Convention, as well as Article 3 of the European Convention of Human Rights could be breached (Cherubini, 2017).

Relevance of this research

As presented above, research on EU asylum and migration policy has addressed its evolution, and attempted to explain why it has evolved the way it has. Research on the EU-Turkey agreement has been critical from a normative perspective regarding its legality human rightswise, and of the humanitarian consequences. Previous research, however, does not address motives for the recent development in EU policy on asylum and migration in response to the refugee crisis. My intention for this thesis is to fill this gap, by doing a case study aiming to unveil the EU's motives behind one of the most recent controversial developments in EU asylum and migration policy.

The essence of my thesis is not to find out whether the EU-Turkey agreement poses a problem legally or ethically, as research on this has already been conducted, and has to a great extent concluded that it does (Cherubini, 2017; Haferlach & Kurban, 2017; McEwen, 2017). What the literature does not show, is why the EU has turned to such a drastic measure in a response to the refugee crisis *despite* its highly criticised legal and human rights nature.

Concepts and Methodology

This thesis is addressing issues of asylum, migration and refugees, thus a clarification of these terms is useful. The word 'migrant' is referring to people choosing to move on the grounds that they wish for a better life, often economically, but also for education, family reunion or other reasons. The word 'refugee' refers to a person fleeing their country on the grounds of armed conflict of persecution, making it too dangerous for them to return to their country. They are defined and protected under the 1951 Refugee Convention (UNHCR, 2016b). An 'asylum seeker' is a person in the process of seeking asylum under the 1951 Refugee Convention on the grounds that if they returned to their country they would be in danger because of race, religion, nationality, political belief or membership of a particular social group. In other words, it has not yet been established whether they fulfil the 'criteria' of receiving refugee status, and hence protection. For this thesis, the topic is the refugee crisis, and the main focus will therefore be on the weakest of these groups, namely refugees and asylum seekers.

The thesis uses a qualitative research design. Qualitative designs aim to explore and understand underlying reasons for and motivations behind a particular development or, in this case a political decision. The design is therefore compatible with the aim of this thesis. Yilmaz (2013) points out that it often is defined as research not able to produce findings based on

numeric data. Contrary to quantitative designs, whose aim is to generate numeric data to be measured and analysed in a more statistical manner (Creswell, 2014, p. 4; Yilmaz, 2013, p. 311). For the thesis, a qualitative research design is the best fit, because the aim is to explore the motives of the EU for their actions in one specific case.

An inductive research approach is used for this research. This approach is often combined with a qualitative design. Yilmaz(2013) states that "[...] qualitative studies are concerned with process, context, interpretation, meaning or understanding through inductive reasoning" (p. 313). The inductive approach is chosen, starting with the research problem at hand, as the objective is to contribute to a more generalised understanding of recent EU policy-making within asylum and migration policy.

In writing this thesis, two concepts were found to be helpful in explaining the EU's policy-making, namely new intergovernmentalism and securitisation. New intergovernmentalism argues that, post-Maastricht, Member States have been the main actors leading the policy-making in the EU (Bickerton, Hodson, & Puetter, 2015). Given the national interests of internal- and border security in connection to asylum and migration policy, this theory is highly relevant to explore. It helps explain the influence of Member States' interests in EU policy-making. Securitisation argues that actors, by labelling an issue a security threat, justify the use of extraordinary measures to prevent a breach on security (Waever, 2014). The use of extraordinary measures for security reasons can, according to the securitisation concept, be done at the cost of human rights (Huysmans, 2000; Triandafyllidou & Dimitriadi, 2014). Given the Agreement's characterisation as an extraordinary measure (Council of the European Union, 2016a, p. 1), and the human rights concerns it poses, the securitisation concept is relevant to explore in this thesis. Through understanding the relevance of the new intergovernmentalism and securitisation, these can be used to distinguish the EU's recent policy-making in the area of asylum and migration.

The thesis conducts a case study on the EU-Turkey Agreement. A case study serves as means for in-depth understanding of a particular problem. It is a tool for arriving at generalisations or building theory from the observations made, making it compatible with the inductive design of the thesis. Additionally, case studies can contribute to understanding theories in practice. Through this process, one can facilitate further research on a topic. Through doing a case study on the EU-Turkey Agreement, the thesis aims to gain understanding of the recent developments of EU asylum and migration policy during the refugee crisis. However, given the extraordinary nature of the Agreement – being an emergency response during a crisis

situation – generalisations, especially of future policy-making, based on this case study must be done with utmost caution. However, the thesis is able to do some generalisations of EU's recent policy-making. This is done with a certain degree of confidence by drawing on the findings of the EU's policy-making over time, and connecting the general findings of the thesis with explanatory theories that legitimise the arguments.

The thesis' inductive design aims to build theory by using case study. One way to infer theoretical observations from a case study is to use process tracing (Van Evera, 1997, pp. 67-68). This entails tracing the evolution of – in this case – policy on a particular issue like migration. The thesis does this by conducting a policy analysis of EU asylum and migration policy with the intent of tracing its development and finding motives for the EU-Turkey agreement. In order to trace the development of the EU policy and unveil their motives, the thesis will conduct a content analysis of documents. Bowen (2009) argues that document analysis is particularly applicable to qualitative case studies, as this type of study calls for "rich descriptions of a single phenomenon, event, organisation, or program" (p. 29). Content analysis is performed in order to interpret meaning from these documents (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005).

As stated by Merriam and Tisdell (2015), "documents of all types can help the researcher uncover meaning, develop understanding, and discover insights relevant to the research problem" (p. 189). Different sources of documents are therefore analysed. First of all, the thesis analyses official EU documents concerning asylum and migration policy in the relevant timeframe, as well as documents on the EU-Turkey Agreement. Second, material from human rights organisations such as Human Rights Watch, Amnesty International and the Council of Europe are used to comment on the human rights issues with the EU-Turkey deal. These organisations are all independent, making them credible sources for information. Also, statements and statistics from Eurostat and the UNHCR are used to contextualise the refugee crisis. Finally, news articles are included in the document analysis. EU-documents do not necessarily present an impartial side of the situation, thus news articles are used to create a more nuanced account of the findings. Additionally, news articles are useful in referencing reactions to the refugee crisis among EU Member States. News sources that specify in EUrelated news are chosen to get material that is relevant to the thesis. The news sources chosen are the EU observer, Politico and Euractiv. These sources are all easily available on the internet. All three news sources are nonpartisan, specialising in EU policies and politics.

The timeframe of the data gathering is from 2014-2016. 2014 marks the beginning of the refugee crisis, although at a very early stage at this point. However, a historical analysis

based on previous literature is also presented in order to create an insight to how EU asylum and migration policy has been conducted in the past, and how this relates to the thesis' findings. Given that the aim is to discover the motivations of the EU for the bilateral agreement, the timeframe ends in 2016, when the EU-Turkey agreement was signed.

Overview of the structure and main findings

The thesis follows a chronological order. Chapter two provides an overview of the development of EU's asylum and migration policy, and the institutional changes of the policy making. It outlines the main controversies of the policy. The chapter finds that much of the policy-making power has officially been transferred to the Commission and the European Parliament. However, because of strong national interests of internal- and border security related to asylum and migration, Member States of the EU have through the Council remained in a leading position as to what changes are made in this policy area. The failure of even distribution of asylum seekers has been the main problematic aspect of asylum and migration policy in the EU, being an instigator of externalisation of the policy.

Chapter three analyses the responses to the refugee crisis by the EU and its Member States. It finds that the incomplete EU migration and asylum system led to difficulty in leading a common and swift response to the refugee crisis. The EU's response is characterised as being emergency responses to compensate for the incomplete asylum and migration system. Another impacting factor was the polarised opinions of the Member States on what actions to take, influencing decisions in the Council.

Chapter four analyses the EU's motivations for the bilateral agreement with Turkey. The thesis argues that the EU-Turkey Agreement represents a shift in EU's bilateral cooperation in the field of asylum and migration, and takes the form of a more extreme agreement than previous ones. The findings indicate that the EU-Turkey Agreement was a measure of last resort, as the Member States and the EU as a whole failed to find a response to deal with the high influx of refugees. The findings also indicate that the main motivation for the EU behind the Agreement were interests of security rather than humanitarian interests. This is on the grounds that the Agreement fails to properly address humanitarian issues, as well as the Agreement's questionable nature in relation to international law and human rights.

Chapter five presents a discussion of the thesis' findings in a wider context of the EU's motivation for policy-making on asylum and migration. The findings of the case study indicate

that in asylum and migration policy, the EU do not mainly act as a normative power during the refugee crisis, exerting influence on the basis of human rights values. Instead, the EU is acting on grounds of security interests, coinciding with the theory of securitisation. Despite the shift to communitarisation of policy making, the Council still holds the most prominent position on this policy area. The policy development of asylum and migration is therefore notably shaped by national interests of security, making externalisation preferred over comprehensive efforts to distribute asylum seekers evenly internally. These conclusions correspond with the notions of new intergovernmentalism, and contribute to understand EU policy-making over issues of migration and asylum.

Chapter 6 consists of the conclusions of this thesis. It discusses how the case study has contributed to the understanding of new intergovernmentalism and securitisation in EU asylum and migration policy, and how these theories in turn help understand EU decision making during the refugee crisis. The thesis finds that the EU's asylum and migration policy lay a poor foundation for responding adequately to the refugee crisis. The thesis concludes that motives of security were most prominent behind the EU-Turkey Agreement. The securitisation theory helps explain why the EU resorted to such a drastic measure as the EU-Turkey Agreement, justifying it on grounds of the refugee crisis posing a security threat to Europe. New intergovernmentalism in turn explains how and why the Member States through the Council were able to maintain the security focus throughout policy-making, especially during the refugee crisis.

Chapter 2: A Brief History of the European Union's Asylum and Migration Policies

In order to assess the EU's direction in their asylum and migration policy after the refugee crisis leading up to the Turkey Agreement, it is important to take into account the development of their policy up until 2015. This chapter provides a historical overview of EU policies regarding asylum and migration and an outline of the current asylum and migration regime.

From Schengen to Lisbon

EU cooperation on issues of asylum and migration first became a topic in the 1980s. Member States of the then European Community (EC) realised that if they wanted to eventually abolish internal borders, cooperation on certain policy areas was the price to pay. With the creation of common external borders came the need for coherent and common rules for access and security. Appropriate measures concerning external border control, asylum, migration and security was necessary. These issues could no longer be addressed solely on a national level.

Since the Treaty of Amsterdam in 1999, EU policy on asylum and migration has been under the framework of the Area of Freedom, Security and Justice (AFSJ), indicating the security aspect of asylum and migration poses. Before this, it was under the pillar of Justice and Home Affairs (JHA). Asylum and migration are sensitive issues because of state interests of national security, identity, as well as socio economic interests (Huysmans, 2006). Traditionally these have been policies governed at the national level (Guiraudon, 2000). Consequently these are policies that have undergone a slow and tedious transfer to the EU (Uçarer, 2013, p. 282).

The most prominent project in the early days of migration policy in the EU was the Schengen Agreement. The Member States of the European Community were not in complete agreement on the issue of abolishing internal borders. Opposing opinions on the issue led to the preliminary creation of the Schengen Agreement outside the EC in 1985. Some Member States were eager to realise an agreement to remove internal borders. Hence, the Schengen Agreement was initially made by Belgium, the Netherlands and Luxembourg (the 'Benelux' countries) together with France and Germany to gradually do away with internal border control with the harmonisation of visa policies. In 1990, the Schengen Convention was signed for the Schengen Area's completion, but it was not until 1995 the Convention came into force in the member

states. At the time, the member states consisted of France, Germany, Belgium, Netherlands, Luxembourg, Portugal and Spain. In 1995, the Schengen project still lay outside the EC. However, during the 1990s, efforts were made to implement Schengen into the EC. By 1997, the Schengen Area had 13 EC member states. With the Amsterdam Treaty in 1999, one finally saw the integration of the Schengen Agreement into the legal framework of the EC. Of the today's 26 members of the Schengen Area, 22 are EU Member States.

The removal of control of persons applied both for persons of the member states and of third countries. The controls were only to be re-introduced under special circumstances. With the Schengen Agreement came also transnational cooperation on asylum. Measures were laid down to assign responsibility to one single country so as to prevent multiple and duplicate asylum claims among the member countries. The mechanism has later been used and further developed by the EU in the form of the Dublin Regulation².

The Dublin Convention³ was signed in 1990 in Dublin, Ireland. In 1997 it was ratified and came into force. The Schengen project still lay outside EC policy in 1990, but as the EC had the same ambition to abolish internal border controls, they were faced with the same need as the Schengen Area concerning a common policy on asylum (European Council on Refugees and Exiles, 2006). The conclusions on how to manage asylum claims under the Dublin Convention were therefore similar to those put forward in the Schengen Agreement. It has been seen as a measure to fill the lack of a mechanism to distribute responsibility of asylum claims within the Community, as the number of asylum seekers rose in the 1980s (Marinho & Heinonen, 1998).

There were two main objectives of the Dublin Convention. The first was to prevent asylum shopping. According to the European Migration Network⁴, the term refers to the act

_

² The Schengen acquis - Convention implementing the Schengen Agreement of 14 June 1985 between the Governments of the States of the Benelux Economic Union, the Federal Republic of Germany and the French Republic on the gradual abolition of checks at their common borders, Title II, Chapter 7, Article 30

³ The 1990 "Convention determining the State responsible for examining applications for asylum lodged in one of the Member States of the European Communities". Currently the Dublin Regulation III (2018), previously the Dublin Convention (1990) and the Dublin II Regulation (2003).

⁴ The European Migration Network is an EU network of migration and asylum experts providing objective, comparable policy-relevant information on issues on migration and asylum. It was established by the Commission in 2008.

where "third-country nationals apply for international protection in more than one Member State with or without having already received it in one of those Member States" (European Migration Network, 2018a). The second objective was to make sure refugees would have one country responsible for their application, and prevent them from being shuttled from one country to the next unable to find a country willing to process them. This was termed *refugees in orbit* (European Migration Network, 2018b). A system that determines a single state to hold responsibility for the asylum claim would solve these issues (Hurwitz, 1999, p. 649).

The Dublin Convention set out a hierarchy of criteria to establish the Member State responsible for the asylum application processing (European Council on Refugees and Exiles, 2006). The article that was most frequently used was Article 5, which stated that the Member State that had issued a residence permit to the asylum seeker is responsible for the asylum application. Article 6 and 7 assigned responsibility to the Member State where the asylum seeker had illegally or legally entered. If none of the criteria above were fulfilled, the responsibility lay with the Member State where the application was lodged.

The Dublin Convention was early on being criticised, especially by NGOs. There were three main concerns (European Council on Refugees and Exiles, 2006). The first was that the Convention did not take into account the interest of the asylum seeker regarding the State they would like their claim to be processed. Second, there was the concern of the criterion placing responsibility of an asylum claim with the Member State of first entry of the asylum seeker. It was – and still is – argued, that this placed a particular burden on Member States geographically located on common migrant travel routes. This made them predisposed to larger inflows of asylum seekers than other Member States, e.g. the northern ones. Thirdly, it was the issue of sending asylum seekers back to 'safe third countries'. In an EC Member State, the asylum seeker was guaranteed processing of their application. In a third country, this may not be the case (Hurwitz, 1999, pp. 649-650). This could counteract the goal of preventing refugees in orbit. Some of these worries were attempted rectified in the later revisions of the Dublin Convention, but the issue of heavy burdens on Member States located at the front lines and on migrant travel routes remains largely unsolved.

The first revision of the Dublin Convention happened under the Treaty of Amsterdam. This treaty was signed in 1997, and entered into force in 1999. The treaty of Amsterdam moved the policy area of migration and asylum from the so-called third pillar to the first pillar. Up until this point, cooperation on migration and asylum had been purely intergovernmental through the Council. The Treaty of Amsterdam and the shift to the first pillar marked the transition to

communitarisation of AFSJ policy, giving the supranational EU institutions more power (i.e. the Commission and the EP). The Commission gained a more prominent role in its right of initiative, and negotiating with third countries on migration and asylum issues (Boswell, 2003b). The Council stood with decision making power, and for a five-year transitional period took decisions by unanimous voting after consultation with the European Parliament.

One of the main objectives of the Treaty of Amsterdam was to create a common area of freedom, security and justice. To this end, Schengen and the Dublin Regulation were integrated into the Treaty (European Council on Refugees and Exiles, 2006, p. 9). The Dublin Regulation (Dublin II) replaced the Convention in order to make it an official instrument for the EC, making it possible to create defined and harmonised rules and mechanisms in all Member States for the system to be applied effectively. One of the mechanisms created for this purpose was the European Dactyloscopy (EURODAC) system. This is a system that keeps track of all asylum seekers over 14 years, by systemising fingerprints, in order to establish which Member State the asylum seeker first applied for asylum. Dublin II's hierarchy of criteria to establish responsibility for an asylum application also slightly changed. The first criterion now stated that responsibility was assigned to the Member State in which the asylum applicant had a family member, increasingly taking into account the asylum seeker's interest (European Council on Refugees and Exiles, 2006, p. 9).

Further developments within asylum and migration policy were set out at the European Council Summit of 1999 in Tampere (Finland). Here, the first European Council Programme on asylum and migration was laid down. The Programme set out the development of a common asylum and migration policy for the next years. In this Programme, an external approach to asylum was presented. It was argued that AFSJ policies should be more closely linked to foreign affairs policy on the grounds of internal security (Koutrakos, 2010, p. 140). Hence, a closer cooperation with transit- and origin countries was needed. This entailed efforts to remove political and economic conditions acting as incentives for people to seek asylum in the EU. One of the priorities were to assist neighbour countries achieve adequate protection standards for refugees (Uçarer, 2013, p. 289).

Another point on the agenda was to eventually commit to a Common European Asylum System (CEAS). This entailed common standards for processing asylum claims and applications, and common rules for refugee recognition. Common minimum standards for conditions for refugees and rules for family reunification were also to be established (Uçarer, 2013, p. 289).

Following the Kosovo crisis in 1999, which led to a massive influx of refugees into EC countries, the Temporary Protection Directive (Council Directive 2001/55/EC of 20 July 2001) was established. The Directive aimed at giving temporary protection to people in the event of mass influx of asylum seekers not able to return to their home country (Council of the European Union, 2001). However, to the date of writing this, the Directive has never been activated, despite the mass influx of Syrian refugees into the EU during the refugee crisis (Directorate General for Internal Policies, 2016, p. 21).

Another initiative during the Treaty of Amsterdam was the European Refugee Fund (ERF), established in 2000 with the intention of financially relieving the Member States experiencing disproportionate pressure regarding asylum seekers (Council of the European Union, 2000). The fund would assist bearing the consequences of receiving refugees, such as financial aid in integration measures (E. R. Thielemann, 2005, p. 808). The fund was also to provide financial aid in the case of temporary protection measures in cases of mass influx. In addition to the ERF, there was the European Fund for the Integration of Third-Country Nationals, the External Borders Fund aimed at funding control of external borders and management of migration flows, and lastly the Return Fund, funding returns of illegal immigrants. These funds were in 2014 merged into the Asylum, Migration and Integration fund (AMIF), with a budget of 3,137 million euro for the period 2014-2020 (European Commission, 2011b).

At the European Council Summit in Brussels 2004, the Tampere Programme was replaced with the adoption of the Hague Programme (European Council, 2005). The Hague Programme set out the priorities for AFSJ policy from 2004-2009. It built on the progress made since the Tampere Summit of 1999 (European Council, 2005, p. 1). The Hague Programme especially emphasised the need to ensure fundamental rights for asylum seekers as set out by international law, such as the Geneva Refugee Convention. In light of the events of 11 September 2001, the need to handle terrorist threats was intensified. This consequently called for a common approach to issues such as illegal migration, trafficking and smuggling of human beings, terrorism and organised crime (European Council, 2005, p. 1; Uçarer, 2013, p. 290). The need to increase the protection of the external borders was therefore highlighted. This resulted in the creation of Frontex. Frontex is an agency providing additional technical support for EU countries facing severe migratory pressure (European Union, 2018). Their responsibilities consist mainly of training of border authorities, conducting joint operations of specially trained staff to assist border areas in need of additional support, and providing

technical equipment (such as aircrafts and boats), as well as gathering information and conducting research relevant to border authorities.

In addition to enhancing border control, the interest of cooperation with third countries increased. This interest was outlined by the European Council in the Tampere Programme, and further amplified during the Hague Programme. In 2005, the Global Approach to Migration and Mobility (GAMM) was established by the Commission, constituting the overarching framework for the external dimension of EU migration and asylum policy (European Commission, 2011a). GAMM aimed at developing a strategic policy towards relevant third countries regarding asylum and migration, in particular with the Southern and Eastern neighbour countries, as well as the enlargement countries. Countries of origin and/or transit were most important for the EU to cooperate with.

Since 2000, the Council of the European Union (from now on referred to only as 'the Council') increasingly authorised the Commission to negotiate with third countries on bilateral cooperation. This included readmission agreements, visa facilitation and mobility partnerships (Cassarino, 2011, pp. 191-206). The bilateral cooperation could be based on a number of different instruments or frameworks. The most tangible categories were Association Agreements and Partnership and Cooperation Agreements with provisions on the area of asylum and migration, such as commitments on mobility, visa facilitation agreements and return and readmission agreements⁵ (European Commission, 2011a; Sterkx, 2010). A second area of cooperation where the EU could exert influence on asylum and migration towards third countries was in the pre-accession and enlargement processes. Thirdly, the EU also established liaison officers in third countries – mainly at border sites. These operated to assist on issues of migration such as asylum procedures, border security, airport checks, and visa issuing. They also assisted in capacity and institution building through training personnel, building or improving asylum systems or transfer of technical equipment. Finally, the EU encouraged third countries to ratify and implement international conventions, such as the 1951 Geneva Convention on Refugees and Stateless Persons and the European Convention on Human Rights (Sterkx, 2010, pp. 122-123).

Since the creation of the Global Approach to Mobility and Migration, the EU has promoted more extensive frameworks specifically for bilateral cooperation on migration. The

_

⁵ Readmission agreements set out criteria and obligations for third countries on the readmission into their country of people (of origin or of third-countries) who do not fulfil the conditions of entry into an EU Member State (European Parliament, 2018, p. 8).

two main frameworks were Mobility Partnerships (MP) and Common Agendas on Migration and Mobility (CAMM). MPs provided a framework for dialogue and practical cooperation between the EU and third countries on migration and mobility issues of common concern. These partnerships were concluded with third countries with effective readmission mechanisms already in place. CAMMs were concluded between the EU and third countries to agree on common recommendations, targets and commitments on migration. This framework did not necessarily require negotiating visa facilitation and readmission agreements (European Commission, 2011a, p. 11). At the time of writing this, only Nigeria has a Common Agenda on Migration and Mobility with the EU. Several countries have concluded MPs with the EU. Most of them are Eastern European, but also Cape Verde and Morocco have concluded MPs.

Aside from CAMMs and MPs, bilateral agreements on readmission with third countries were emphasised by the EU (Cassarino, 2011). At the time of writing, 17 readmission agreements have been concluded. Many of the countries that first concluded readmission agreements with the EU were Central Eastern European countries with prospects of joining the EU. In exchange for the conclusion of such agreements, the EU often used visa facilitation as an incentive (Cassarino, 2007). These countries desired access to an easier way to travel to the EU through visa facilitation. However, in addition to the exchange of visa facilitation for the conclusion of readmission agreements, the EU demanded certain criteria to be fulfilled. The EU stated that "[...] progress is dependent on these countries implementing major reforms in areas such as the strengthening of the rule of law, combating organised crime, corruption and illegal migration, and strengthening their administrative capacity in border control and security of documents" (Council of the European Union, 2003, p. 16). The EU used this opportunity to make reforms in domestic justice and home affairs in the countries in question, making the accession process less strenuous, as some reforms would already be in place before the accession (Trauner & Kruse, 2008). Readmission agreements made with accession countries were often less complicated and lengthy than the readmission agreements with Mediterranean countries. It can be argued that they might not have the same incentives to cooperate as the accession countries, who operate with the expectation of gaining benefits following their accession into the EU (Cassarino, 2007).

The vision of a common asylum system was reinforced in the Treaty of Lisbon in 2009 (European Parliament, 2018, p. 3). It also reinforced the role of EU institutions by moving the asylum and migration policy under the ordinary legislative procedure, giving the European Parliament co-decision power. The European Council held co-decision power by qualitative

majority voting, although an informal norm of consensus voting still persisted (Trauner, 2016, p. 320). In addition to this, the role of the Court of Justice of the European Union gained competence within ASFJ policy. However, the developments of EU migration and asylum policy were strongly tainted by a status quo, and the Council was reluctant to give in to the Commission and the EP's calls for more liberal and harmonised rules (Trauner, 2016). The Council insisted on compromises that were close to its position, culminating in a near status quo.

The Stockholm Programme replaced the Hague Programme, and was concluded in 2009. The title of the Programme read: "The Stockholm Programme - An open and secure Europe serving and protecting the citizen" (Council of the European Union, 2009, p. 1). The Stockholm Programme set out the priorities of the AFSJ between 2010-2014. With the steady rise of migrants coming to Europe, the European Council's Stockholm Programme placed particular focus on security. It continued the focus on fundamental rights, but with a particular focus on the European citizen, promoting an internal security strategy (Uçarer, 2013, p. 290). To achieve this, an emphasis was placed on the need to increase the external dimension of asylum and migration policy.

The Stockholm Programme also emphasised the need for solidarity, especially with those countries facing particular pressure regarding the amount of asylum seekers (European Parliament, 2018, p. 4). One way of showing solidarity to the countries under pressure of asylum seekers was to find a solution to distribute the burden more equally. Relocation of asylum seekers from these particular countries to other Member States under less pressure was a suggested solution. The EU had little experience with relocation programmes (Trauner, 2016; Tsourdi & De Bruycker, 2015). The Commission together with the EP made efforts to establish permanent relocation measures, but was met with opposition by the Member States through the Council (European Parliament, 2012). In 2010, the Commission published a study on the feasibility of establishing a mechanism for relocation of people in need of international protection within the EU (European Commission, 2010). There was a general consensus among the Member States that there was indeed an uneven distribution of asylum burdens in the EU. However, their opinions differed as to why this was the case, and what the best solution would be. Only a limited number of the Member States were of the opinion that relocation programmes were the best solution. Many preferred a solution based on policy harmonisation, technical and financial assistance, or a combination of these. Approximately half of the Member States were also explicitly against the relocation of asylum seekers, and were more lenient to a relocation scheme only for refugees (European Commission, 2010, p. VI).

The Return Directive set out common procedures for the return of irregular migrants on EU territory (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2008). It was an important development during the period of the Stockholm Programme, entering into force in 2010. As opposed to the proposed relocation measure, this directive was being heavily advocated by Member States, and the EP was the more sceptical party (Trauner & Ripoll Servent, 2016, p. 1426).

In order to make it easier for Member States to unify their asylum policies with EU policy, the European Asylum Support Office (EASO) was established in 2010, and was fully functioning by 2011 (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2010). The Stockholm Programme also saw the implementation of Dublin III, which further developed the method of effectively establishing responsibility of asylum applications. It also included measures aimed at improving the rights of the asylum applicants (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013). However, an improvement on the even distribution of asylum seekers was still not established, despite calls from the Commission and the EP to suspend transfers if a Member State was over-burdened (Trauner, 2016, pp. 316-317). These calls were based on landmark rulings by the European Court of Human Rights and the Court of Justice of the European Union concluding that Dublin transfers to Greece would lead to degrading and inhuman treatment⁶.

Since the Stockholm Programme

The Stockholm Programme expired in 2014. From there, the European Council set out guidelines for the legislative and operational planning within the area of freedom, security and justice for the period of 2014-2020 (European Commission, 2014). This no longer constituted a European Council Programme, but rather a set of guidelines on how to transpose, implement and harmonise the existing legal instruments and measures (European Parliament, 2018, p. 9).

_

⁶ ECtHR ruling; M.S.S. v. Belgium and Greece, and ECJ rulings; N.S. (C-411/10) v. Secretary of State for the Home Department, and M. E. and Others (C-493/10) v. Refugee Applications Commissioner and Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform.

A top priority was to fully transpose and implement the Common European Asylum System, which had been developing since the Tampere Summit of 1999.

EU's migration and asylum policies have grown to become an intricate system of internal and external measures, gathered under the Area of Freedom, Security and Justice. At the core of EU asylum and migration policy lies the Schengen Area. The Schengen Area today comprises of most EU Member States, with the exception of Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Ireland, Romania and the United Kingdom⁷. In addition to these states, Iceland, Norway, Switzerland and Liechtenstein from outside the EU are also members of the Schengen Area (Migration and Home affairs, 2018c). There exists a single set of common rules of visa requirements, external border checks of persons and entry requirements to account for the lack of internal border control (Migration and Home Affairs, 2018a). This ensures access for those who have a legitimate interest to enter the EU, as well as keeping out those who do not. To make this cooperation easier, sharing of information on visa data (Visa Information System) and suspected criminals (Schengen Information System) is conducted through information sharing mechanisms.

The main feature of EU asylum policy is the Common European Asylum System. CEAS has developed to consist of five core pieces of legislation. First, the Asylum Procedures Directive (Council Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005) aims to ensure good, fair and quick asylum decisions. Greater protection of unaccompanied minors and victims of torture is emphasised. Second, the Reception Conditions Directive (Council Directive 2003/9/EC of 27 January 2003) aims to ensure humane reception conditions for asylum seekers in the EU. It also points out that detention should only be applied as a last resort measure. Third, the Qualification Directive (Council Directive 2004/83/EC of 29 April 2004) sets out the grounds for granting international protection. Fourth, the Dublin Regulation (III) establishes the State responsible for examining the asylum application. Fifth, the EURODAC Regulation allows for law enforcement to access the EU database of fingerprints of asylum seekers in order to cooperate on preventing and investigating crimes (Migration and Home Affairs, 2018b).

To sum up, the EU's policy on asylum and migration has undergone significant institutional changes and policy developments—since the 1980s. This has led to a communitarisation of the policy area. However, the Council has maintained a leading position, as the Member States have kept interests of maintaining competence regarding security. This

_

⁷ At the time of writing this, Bulgaria and Romania are in the process of joining the Schengen Area.

has led to a conflict of interests of internal security and protection of refugees concerning human rights, as we see in the reluctance to change the Dublin Regime despite calls from the ECtHR and the CJEU (Trauner, 2016). Rather leaning towards restrictive policies by externalisation, this is also a measure prone to conflict of human rights (Lavenex, 2001). As the refugee crisis has emphasised, the existing policy regime remains critically flawed. In particular, its incapability of a sustainable sharing of responsibilities (European Commission, 2016d). This has led to an inconsistent response both from the Member States and consequently the EU as a whole, as will be addressed in chapter 3 of this thesis.

Chapter 3: EU actors and the refugee crisis

The refugee crisis led to a multitude of responses both from EU Member States and EU institutions. These responses were likely to form the EU's choice of action, and is therefore relevant to address. This chapter will analyse the main weaknesses of EU asylum and migration policy as emphasised by the refugee crisis, as well as the EU Member States' reactions to the refugee crisis. Furthermore it addresses which actions the EU took in response to the refugee crisis.

The Crisis of the Dublin Regulation and Member States' reactions

In a European Commission evaluation of the Dublin III Regulation, it was pointed out that the Regulation was not designed to deal with situations of mass influx, ultimately resulting in the failure to achieve its objective under the refugee crisis (Maas, Jurado, Capdevila, Labayle, & Hayward, 2015, p. 4). With the increasing pressure on certain frontline Member States of the EU, their facilities and ability to keep and process asylum seekers deteriorated in accordance with the rising numbers of migrants arriving. Certain countries were no longer able to uphold proper standards for their facilities, as they were over-crowded. This took a toll on the functioning of the Dublin Regulation.

It became problematic to perform transfers under the Dublin Regulation. The asylum seekers could potentially be sent back to a first country of entry without the means to properly keep and process the applicant. Rulings by the Court of Justice of the EU (joined cases *C-410/10* and *C-493/10*) and the European Court of Human Rights (*M.S.S* vs. *Belgium and Greece*) concluded that the asylum seeker would face risks of inhuman and degrading treatment upon returning to Greece (Trauner, 2016). This was an issue even before the refugee crisis, but was undoubtedly worse after 2015. The Commission stated already in 2007 that "[...] the Dublin System may de facto result in additional burdens on Member States that have limited reception and absorption capacities and that find themselves under particular migratory pressures because of their geographical location." (European Commission, 2007, p. 10).

Even before the refugee crisis, some cases of returns under the Dublin Regulation were deemed in breach of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) (E.g. Sharifi and Others v. Italy and Greece (2014), Tarakhel v. Switzerland (2014)). A ruling by the European

Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) as early as 2011 held that the transfer of an individual under the Dublin Regulation from Belgium to Greece was in violation of Article 3 and 13 of the ECHR (M.S.S. v. Belgium and Greece). The Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU) confirmed this ruling in N.S. (C-411/10) v. Secretary of State for the Home Department and M. E. and Others (C-493/10) v. Refugee Applications Commissioner and Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform. Here it was stated that

[...] they cannot be unaware that systemic deficiencies in the asylum procedures and in the reception conditions of asylum seekers [...] amount to substantial grounds for believing that the asylum seeker would face a real risk of being subjected to inhuman and degrading treatment. (Court of Justice of the European Union, 2011)

These landmark rulings influenced the later application of the Dublin Regulation, contributing to ensure the consideration of human rights in transfer cases. Consequently, transfers to Greece were suspended.

Furthermore, as previously mentioned, the Dublin Regulation was criticised early on for its incapability of distributing asylum seekers evenly. This flaw was further emphasised when the number of asylum seekers increased drastically in 2015. For Greece and Italy, the use of the Dublin Regulation would have entailed handling approximately 1 million asylum seeker applications in 2015 alone (UNHCR, 2016a). Had the Dublin Regulation not been suspended for Greece, they would have had the responsibility for over 850,000 of these. This would not have been sustainable. The lack of a joint response from the EU on this area resulted in Member States starting to overlook the Dublin Regulation all together. The Member States most heavily influenced by the large influx of asylum seekers would neglect to register the asylum seeker's entrance into their country, and send them through to the next (Directorate General for Internal Policies, 2016, p. 48). Furthermore, Germany ceased to return Syrian refugees to the first point of entry under the Dublin Regulation. By doing this, they blatantly disregarded the rules of the Dublin Regulation (Dernbach, 2015).

Member States were now looking for an alternative way to manage the flow of refugees. As the EU did not provide a rapid, common response, many considered it necessary to take the matter into their own hands. The refugee crisis led to a polarisation of opinions on what actions to take. On the one hand, there were those welcoming refugees with open arms, on the other those deeming it was neither feasible nor desirable to take in large amounts of refugees (Guiraudon, 2018). There were several factors pushing people towards the latter category. The large, uncontrolled influx of refugees was one of them. The close relation constructed between

migration and security made many weary of the notion of thousands of migrants entering Europe. The upsurge of terrorist attacks experienced in Europe in recent years did not weaken this notion. Neither did the economic crisis in Greece that threatened the entire EU economy. In many countries, this ultimately led to an upsurge in support of right-wing and nationalist populist parties, representing anti-immigration and anti-EU sentiments (Mudde, 2016). As we have seen, right-wing parties have been prominent in national elections the past couple of years in France, Netherlands and Germany, among others.

Many European countries opted for the tightening of asylum legislation, leaning to more restrictive policies. This contributed to a 'race to the bottom', all trying to make their respective country less attractive to the refugee in the hopes they would go elsewhere. Given the EU CEAS, there were certain standards every country was required to maintain. However, some Member States lowered their standards to the minimum requirements the System allowed (Directorate General for Internal Policies, 2016; Salazar, 2017, p. 94). Many countries reintroduced border controls, which is an emergency method allowed under the Schengen Agreement. Some countries, such as Macedonia and Hungary, took the border controls to the next level by setting up razor-wire fences to keep migrants out, giving rise to much controversy in European countries. This in order to divert the refugee flow to other countries (Directorate General for Internal Policies, 2016, p. 38; Trauner, 2016, p. 320).

Germany quickly became known to be the main opposition to other countries' leading restrictive policies. Germany had a liberal asylum policy and was a popular destination country for asylum seekers.. In 1992 during the Bosnian refugee crisis, Germany led a similar liberal asylum policy. They received over 438,000 asylum applications. This constituted more than 62 percent of all applications registered in Europe at the time (E. Thielemann, 2008, p. 4). In 2015, Germany received a total of 441,800 first time asylum applicants. About 150,000 people (absolute number) were granted refugee status, levelling with the United States who granted approximately the same number. However, in 2016 the number of first time asylum applicants in Germany was almost tripled that of the United States (Eurostat, 2016a, 2017a; OECD, 2017, p. 31). With approximately 720,000 applications registered in Germany in 2016, it was the country with the most applications in proportion to its population.

Germany was an attractive destination country to begin with (Havlová & Tamchynová, 2016). Moreover, with Germany being the first country to suspend the Dublin regulation for Syrian refugees, leading an open-door policy, their popularity increased even further (Dernbach, 2015). Chancellor Angela Merkel was the leader of this liberal attitude towards

asylum seekers. Her declaration on 31 August 2015 "We can do it!" (*Wir shaffen das!*) became a well-known slogan symbolising Germany's stance in the refugee crisis, inspiring and urging governments of Europe to do the same (Guiraudon, 2018, p. 153). However, Merkel's liberal policy was also met with heavy criticism, mainly from the far right-wing. The newly formed party 'Alternative for Germany' (AtD) was the epitome of Merkel's antithesis, representing a harsh anti-immigrant and anti-Muslim agenda and anti-European sentiments (Mushaben, 2017, p. 98). After a terrorist attack in Berlin in 2016 that left 12 dead, the Chancellor was met with major criticism. The criticism was based on her open-door policy, claiming it had led terrorists into the country. However, at the 2017 elections, Merkel was re-elected as Chancellor, signifying the support she still maintained.

Sweden initially held a similar position as Germany in executing an open-door policy towards asylum seekers. In 2015, Sweden received 156,110 first time asylum applicants. This, however, changed when the pressure of the refugee crisis proved too high. Sweden too eventually resorted to the EU minimum standards for migration and asylum (Jacobsen, 2015), resulting in the number decreasing to 22,330 applicants in 2016 (Eurostat, 2016a, 2017a).

Reforms under the EU Agenda on Migration

The widely different responses by the Member States called for unified action by the EU. One of the most prominent common actions by the EU during the refugee crisis was the Agenda on Migration, presented by the Commission on 13 May 2015 with the support of the EP and the Council (European Commission, 2015b, p. 2). This Agenda was already planned, but the incidents in the Mediterranean prompted it being set to action earlier than expected. In 2014, one saw the death of 3279 migrants in the Mediterranean trying to reach Europe. In 2015, there were 3771 fatalities by the end of the year (International Organization for Migration, 2016). Troubling stories of the harsh travel routes for migrants traveling to Europe flourished on news sites and were shared vigorously through social media. Particularly prominent was the picture of the lifeless three-year-old Alan Kurdi, washed ashore on a beach in Turkey. He was one of 12 people who died in an attempt at reaching the Greek island of Kos (Smith, 2015). Incidents like these pushed European leaders to look for adequate responses to the situation.

With the Dublin Regulation crumbling and facilitating an even more unequal distribution, the EU saw a desperate need for a mechanism to compensate for this. Through the

Commission's Agenda on Migration of 2015, two schemes were set out to contribute in resolving this; the relocation scheme and the resettlement scheme.

In the Agenda on Migration it was clearly stated that the EU was in need of a permanent system for responsibility sharing of refugees and migrants during high influxes (European Commission, 2015b, p. 4). An emergency relocation mechanism was therefore adopted on 14 September 2015 (Council of the European Union, 2015a), followed by a second decision 22 September further extending the relocation mechanism. These measures were referred to as the relocation scheme. The scheme was based on Article 78 (3) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU). This article states that:

In the event of one or more Member States being confronted by an emergency situation characterised by a sudden inflow of nationals of third countries, the Council, on a proposal from the Commission, may adopt provisional measures for the benefit of the Member State(s) concerned.

The relocation scheme was in other words part of the EU's emergency response. It aimed at relieving the Member States most heavily affected, notably Italy and Greece, by relocating refugees from these countries to other Member States. The EU provided financial support for the relocation.

Hotspots were created in Italy and Greece to help with the relocation (European Commission, n.d.). The creation of hotspots was suggested by the Commission in the Agenda on Migration, as a tool to help relieve pressure on frontline Member States by assisting them in swiftly identify, register and fingerprint incoming migrants. People in need of international protection would be swiftly relocated to other Member States. The hotspots would also receive help with coordinating returns of irregular migrants. These hotspots would receive help from EASO, Frontex and EU Judicial Cooperation Agency (Eurojust) who would work with the local authorities to help fulfil their obligations under EU law (European Commission, 2015b).

The relocation scheme was a promising proposal for the Member States struggling with overcrowded asylum facilities, however, the scheme was largely deemed a failure. The relocation distribution was calculated by "[...] a redistribution key based on criteria such as GDP, size of population, unemployment rate and past numbers of asylum seekers and of resettled refugees" (European Commission, 2015b, p. 4). The intended number of relocations was 40,000, but disagreement among the Member States resulted in the initial number being roughly 32,000 (Council of the European Union, 2015c). Later, a second decision was made,

determining the relocation of 120,000 additional asylum seekers. Although the proposal was met with opposition from certain Member States, notably Hungary, Slovakia, Romania and the Czech Republic, the Council Decision went through on the grounds of the qualitative majority vote (Salazar, 2017; Trauner, 2016). The Prime Minister of Hungary, Viktor Orbán, was leading in the protest of the relocation scheme. As a far-right nationalist, he opposed the relocation scheme on grounds of anti-Islamic sentiments, in fear the relocation of immigrants with Islamic ties would undermine "European Christianity". Many feared the stability and security of their country would be at risk by mass relocating asylum seekers. Therefore, not all countries were willing to follow through on the EU's proposals, but rather act unilaterally, increasing border controls or even refusing to accept asylum seekers (Salazar, 2017, pp. 93-94).

Hungary and Poland have up to the time of writing refused to participate in the relocation scheme (European Commission, 2017c). Others have participated, but not fully respected their legal obligations in terms of relocations to their countries, resulting in infringement procedures by the Commission. Several countries have shown reluctance to relocate sufficient numbers, and has received calls from the Commission to increase their efforts (European Commission, 2017b). In fact, only two countries, Malta and Finland, are on track to fulfil their obligations (European Commission, 2017c).

For the reasons above, the progress in relocating asylum seekers was slow. As of November 2017, only 33,846 relocations had been executed (European Commission, 2018d). The Commission argues, however, that the EU-Turkey Agreement has contributed to a 96% decrease in arrivals to Greece, and the majority of the migrants arriving in Italy not being eligible for asylum, the number of persons to be relocated has turned out to be much lower (European Commission, 2017d). The Commission further encourages Member States to support Greece and Italy in relocating refugees, as they still remain under high pressure of the refugee flow. The Commission has proposed a permanent relocation mechanism, but this proposal is at the time of writing being reviewed by the Council.

In addition to setting up a relocation scheme for the asylum seekers already on EU soil, the Commission proposed to set up a resettlement scheme for people in need of international protection outside the EU (European Commission, 2015b). The intention of this was to counteract the use of smugglers and traffickers as a measure to reach a safe country. The initial programme had the goal of 22,500 resettlements. The implementation of the resettlement scheme was more successful than the relocation scheme. By the end of 2017, 18,563 of the 22,500 had been resettled (European Commission, 2017e). A new scheme for 50,000 additional

resettlements is in progress, as well as a permanent Union Resettlement Framework by the Commission, proposed in July 2016, which is to replace the current resettlement schemes (European Commission, 2017e). Even though the scheme was a success in that it reached the resettlement goals, the number of resettlements was relatively low compared to the millions of refugees fleeing conflict.

The refugee crisis called for heightened security of the EU's external borders. On 14 September 2016, a regulation establishing the European Border and Coast Guard Agency was adopted, and entered into force 6 October the same year (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2016). This Agency was part of an expansion of Frontex' mandate, and replaced the previous name (European Agency for the Management of Operational Cooperation at the External Borders of the Members States of the European Union). The aim was to reinforce the security of the external borders of the EU, as well as assist in handling migratory pressures. Their main task was monitoring migratory flows, provide operational and technical assistance to Member States, assist in search and rescue missions, as well as assist in returning migrants without the right to stay in the EU (European Commission, 2016c). Frontex' budget was also considerably reinforced already in 2015 in order to address the refugee crisis (European Commission, 2016c). Rescue operations such as Poseidon and Triton⁸ were reinforced with tripled resources and assets in 2015 following the refugee crisis. In 2017 alone, Frontex contributed to save more than 33,000 people in the Central and Easter Mediterranean (Frontex European Border and Coast Guard Agency, 2017).

Cooperation with third countries of transit and origin was also one of the EU's immediate actions through the Agenda on Migration. In order to prevent 'hasardous journeys', the EU would cooperate with transit and origin countries by setting up Regional Development and Protection Programmes. Migration was to become part of ongoing Common Security and Defence Policy (CSDP) missions in several African countries in order to strengthen border management in those countries. Furthermore, the Commission proposed to set up 'multi-purpose centres' in third countries. These centres would provide migrants with information to create a realistic picture of the likely success of their journeys, and offer assisted voluntary return options for migrants without protection needs. The Commission also called for more

_

⁸ Joint Operations Poseidon (Greece) and Triton (Italy) are Frontex led operations with the aim to assist the Member States involved with border surveillance, save lives at sea, and assist in carrying out returns and readmissions (European Commission, 2016a).

frequent application of the Return Directive. To increase this application, the EU would ensure that third countries fulfilled their obligation to take back their own nationals that were not in need of protection in Europe. The EU would help third countries fulfil these obligations by offering capacity building for the management of returns. Furthermore, the Commission would prioritise concluding readmission agreements with the main countries of origin (European Commission, 2015b).

In addition to coming up with repairing mechanisms to make up for the deficiencies of the Dublin Regulation, an actual reform of the Dublin Regulation is under development. The Dublin III Regulation is to be replaced by the Dublin IV Regulation (European Commission, 2016d). This Regulation would among other things provide a corrective mechanism in case of disproportionate pressure on Member States. This would ensure fair responsibility sharing. This fairness mechanism would entail a system that automatically establishes whether a country is under disproportionate pressure. If that is the case, applicants would be relocated to another Member State. Whether disproportionate pressure is taking place would be established by referencing to a country's size and wealth. A country would be able to not partake in the relocation, and decline to receive applicants under the fairness mechanism. Consequently, it would have to make a solidarity contribution of €250,000 per applicant it would otherwise have been responsible for under the fairness mechanism. This money would go to the Member State that are instead determined as responsible for examining those applications. These reforms are at the time of writing under development (European Commission, 2018a).

To sum up, the multitude of responses from EU Member States was likely partially a consequence of the lack of a complete European policy towards asylum and migration. The response by the EU is categorised as being emergency measures, in lack of established measures for the handling of large influxes of asylum seekers. The Member States' strong position, e.g. through the Council, and polarised positions, made it difficult for swift and common actions in the EU. One example is the proposal and implementation of the relocation scheme within the EU, which was largely unsuccessful. Other measures were preferred, such as the hotspot scheme, enhanced border security, and enhanced cooperation with countries of transit and origin. This brings us to the EU-Turkey Agreement, and the EU's motivation behind it.

Chapter 4: Motivation for the bilateral agreement

The EU-Turkey Agreement represents a shift in EU asylum and migration policy in that the nature of the Agreement is unlike any previous bilateral cooperation agreement. In this chapter, the thesis quickly outlines how the EU-Turkey Agreement differs from previous bilateral cooperation the EU has conducted, distinguishing its unique traits. Furthermore, the main developments of the EU's relationship with Turkey are laid out, and insights into how the agreement between the two was concluded is provided. Then, an analysis of its implementation is conducted. Lastly, the thesis explores and discusses what motivated the EU to conclude the Agreement with Turkey.

The EU-Turkey Statement; an exception to the rule

As previously stated, the EU has increasingly led extensive bilateral cooperation with third countries on the area of migration and asylum. The nature of the cooperation has ranged from regular dialogues with third countries about migration and asylum, to concluding extensive cooperation agreements such as CAMMs and MPs. North-African countries, e.g. Tunis and Morocco, have concluded MPs with the EU and have consistent partnerships in the field of migration, mobility and border security (European Commission, 2015c). However, these partnerships are part of the EU's long term strategy under their Global Approach to Migration and Mobility. Whereas the EU-Turkey agreement by contrast is by definition a temporary emergency measure (Council of the European Union, 2016a).

Libya is the North-African country perhaps most comparable to Turkey in the context of the refugee crisis. It has been massively affected by the crisis, and is a popular transit country *en route* to Europe, as well as being an unstable country. Also similar to Turkey, it has not had any official partnership with the EU on migration and asylum in the past. But the EU has not made a similar deal with Libya as with Turkey, on the grounds that the country according to EU institutions is too unstable, and the situation is not the same as in Turkey (European Parliament, 2016; Nielsen, 2017). Instead, Libya has received help from the EU to handle the refugee crisis in other ways. The EU help return refugees from Libya to their country of origin. Additionally, they have been receiving financial support, mainly through the EU Emergency Trust Fund for Africa, to help manage the refugee flow and improve their refugee facilities and the conditions for refugees. Since 2014, roughly 200 million euros have been mobilised by the

EU to improve refugee facilities and build the capacity of migration and asylum institutions, including the Libyan coast guard (European External Action Service, 2018).

Nonetheless, the EU-Turkey Agreement represents a cooperation mechanism unlike anything seen previously. First of all, the nature of the agreement is somewhat unusual. Legal scholars have analysed the agreement without being able to conclude exactly what kind of deal it constitutes (Cherubini, 2017; Peers, 2016). The legal basis is unstable, and there are several issues regarding its implementation, which is elaborated on below (Dimitriadi, 2016). Even the denomination, 'the EU-Turkey Statement', is unclear regarding what the agreement actually entails. Its content does not provide a clear answer to this either (Cherubini, 2017, pp. 40-43). Furthermore, the one in – one out scheme is completely uncommon, in that it offers to take in a Syrian refugee from Turkey for every refugee Turkey takes back from Greece. The fact that the scheme is based on nationality is unique (Cherubini, 2017, p. 37). The EU has also agreed to resettle no more than 72,000 Syrians, regardless of how many Syrians are sent back to Turkey. The offer of 6 billion euros from the EU in addition to visa facilitation, re-opening of accession talks and the 'one in-one out' scheme is unprecedented for a bilateral agreement on migration, and is therefore viewed as an extraordinary measure by the EU (Haferlach & Kurban, 2017). At the same time, Turkey – albeit compensated by the EU – will experience extreme pressure as the number of refugees they hold will grow drastically, making the Agreement less than ideal for them as well.

From unwanted accession country to crucial partner

Turkey first applied for membership in the EU in 1959. They have been a candidate country for EU membership since 1999. Accession talks commenced in 2005, although a large number of EU Member States were opposed to Turkish membership (Phinnemore & İçener, 2016, p. 455). Since then, the EU-Turkey relationship has been tumultuous. The accession progress has been significantly slower than that of other accession countries. Phinnemore and İçener argue that this is partly due to the EU's expansion of conditions to be met by accession countries, as well as the rise of compliance thresholds. However, they also argue that the specifics of Turkey's candidacy is equally to blame for the slow progress (Phinnemore & İçener, 2016, p. 450).

The accession talks came to an almost complete halt in 2010. By that time, Turkey and the EU had only closed one of the 35 chapters of EU aquis communautaire that Turkey needs to adopt ahead of accession. Several of the chapters were blocked by the Council and certain

Member States. The halt of negotiations was in large part due to the EU institutions' criticism of lack of freedom of expression and of the press in Turkey. Certain Member States were more fundamentally opposed to Turkish accession. Among them were France, Cyprus, Greece and Germany (Pop, 2010). One of the main reasons for this opposition was the ongoing Turkish occupation of the northern parts of Cyprus (Ulusoy, 2016). Turkey was – and is still – the only country recognising this part of Cyprus being the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus. This is at the time of writing still one of the main obstacles of their accession to the EU (Haferlach, Tekin, & Wódka, 2017).

In 2012, the EU launched the 'Positive Agenda for Turkey', aimed at getting accession talks back on track after a period of stagnation (European Commission, 2012). The accession talks were reinvigorated in 2013 with the opening of Chapter 22 on Regional Policy and coordination of structural instruments, and later that same year the EU-Turkey readmission agreement was signed. The same year also saw the launching of the visa liberalisation dialogue (European Commission, 2015d). In the first half of 2015 EU-Turkey relations developed further through deeper cooperation on energy and trade.

The second half of 2015 – coinciding with the upsurge of the refugee crisis – marked significant advances in EU-Turkey relations. This advance was due the EU taking comprehensive initiatives to cooperate on migration. In September 2015, the Commission proposed adding Turkey to a list of countries considered 'safe third countries' (European Commission, 2015f). This list was intended to replace national lists of safe third countries within three years. When comparing Turkey to the other countries on the list considered safe⁹, significant differences are found. While the other countries were designated safe by between 6-9 EU Member States, Turkey was only designated safe by one. In addition to this, in 2014, the number of well-founded asylum applications in the EU by asylum seekers from the other countries ranged from 0.9% - 7.8%. This indicates that few of the people applying for asylum in the EU from these countries were in actual need of protection. Consequently, they could return to their home country, given that these countries were considered relatively safe. The rate for Turkey the same year was 23.1%, meaning over 1/5 of Turkish asylum seekers had legitimate reason to leave their country. The making of a common list of safe third countries was agreed upon by the co-legislators within the EU, however, which countries to include was

-

⁹ The other countries on the 'safe third countries' list were: Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, The Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Kosovo, Montenegro and Serbia.

not. In particular the inclusion of Turkey in such a list was highly contested (European Parliament, 2017). The making of the list ultimately fell through.

There were several reasons why the listing of Turkey as a safe third country was problematic. Turkey was not considered a safe third country by, among others, the Council of Europe (PACE, 2016b). After the attempted coup of 2016, Turkey was placed on a watch list by the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe, signifying the high risk of human rights breaches in the country. Turkey is part of the 1951 Refugee Convention, but it applies only to European refugees. Refugees from countries outside Europe stand without proper rights. Amnesty International and Human Rights Watch stated that Turkey had breached the principle of non-refoulement by deporting refugees from Syria, Afghanistan, Iraq back to their country (Amnesty International, 2015; Human Rights Watch, 2015). However, after the refugee crisis, Turkey implemented a temporary protection policy for Syrian refugees.

On 23 September 2015, at an informal meeting of EU heads of state or government on migration, it was emphasised that closer cooperation with Turkey was essential to stem and manage the migratory flows. At the EU-Turkey Summit on 29 November, a joint statement was agreed upon. It contained a number of shared commitments and actions in areas such as the reenergising of the accession process, visa liberalisation, humanitarian aid and economic relations (European Commission, 2015e). Among other things, Turkey agreed to improve border controls and conditions for refugees in return for EU financial aid. Included in the Joint Statement was the activation of the Joint Action Plan, which had been agreed upon on 15 October the same year (European Commission, 2015a). The Action Plan specifically addressed the refugee crisis and set out a number of collaborative efforts to be conducted by both parties. Three main objectives were set out. Firstly, the root causes leading to the massive influx of Syrians was to be addressed. Secondly, Syrians under temporary protection in Turkey needed proper protection and adequate living conditions. Thirdly, the strengthening EU-Turkey cooperation to prevent irregular migration flows to the EU was emphasised.

Cooperation with Turkey on the migration and refugee crisis continued, and a second EU-Turkey Summit was held on 7 March 2016. The implementation of the Joint Action Plan was discussed, and it was concluded that progress had been made, but the number of migrants entering Europe through Turkey was still far too high. Several proposals were made to address the refugee crisis, in particular the flow of migrants from Turkey to Europe. Many of the points in the upcoming EU-Turkey Agreement were discussed, such as the acceleration of visa liberalisation; additional funding from the EU to Turkey for refugee facilities for Syrians; new

chapters to be opened in the accession negotiations; the resettlement, for every Syrian readmitted by Turkey from Greek islands, of another Syrian from Turkey to the EU (European Council, 2016). However, German Chancellor Angela Merkel was the only strong advocate for such an agreement. Merkel's wish to externalise migration control to Turkey seemed to oppose her liberal views of European solidarity and open door policy. However, given the reluctance of other Member States to internally relocate refugees, leaving Germany with an increasingly unmanageable amount of refugees, her stance on the EU-Turkey Agreement is understandable. Hungarian Prime Minister Victor Orbán, Merkel's antithesis in her liberal stance towards refugees, was in strong opposition of resettling refugees from Turkey to the EU, consequently vetoing this proposal (Stupp & Gotev, 2016). Hence, a deal on the managing of refugees was not agreed upon at this meeting. However, Turkey committed to the rapid return of irregular migrants coming to Greece from Turkey. This was a significant development. In the words of President of the European Council Donald Tusk: "the days of irregular migration to Europe are over" (European Council, 2016).

A third EU-Turkey Summit was held on 17-18 March. It was here the renowned EU-Turkey Agreement was ultimately concluded, in the form of a Joint Statement on 18 March (Council of the European Union, 2016a). Turkish Prime Minister Ahmet Davutoğlu was Turkey's representative for the negotiations, and had cooperated closely with Merkel to reach the Agreement (Benvenuti, 2016; Karnitschnig, 2016; Karnitschnig & Barigazzi, 2016; Mushaben, 2017; Toygür & Benvenuti, 2016).

After the coup d'état attempt in Turkey on 16 July 2016, cooperation between EU and Turkey once again stagnated ¹⁰. This was due to actions by President Erdoğan that have been heavily criticised both by EU Member States and the EU institutions. Following the attempted coup, President Erdoğan declared the country under a state of emergency, followed by the initiation of a purge of anyone he considered part of the attempted coup (Milan, 2016). Thousands of journalists, judges, academics and military and police officers were detained and incarcerated. Teachers had their licence revoked, and multiple universities were closed. One of his most shocking statements was the threat of re-imposing the death penalty. These events led

-

¹⁰ The night of 15 July 2016, media started reporting that military was now in control of Turkey. The coup was unsuccessful. No official coup leader has yet been established at the time of writing this. However, it is the Gülenists, a religious community named after its leader – a previous ally of Erdoğan - who are paying the consequences. President Erdoğan blames Gülen, and is purging the Turkish society of any elements connected to the Gülen movement. Gülen denies any connection to the coup(Milan, 2016).

to a halt in negotiations concerning visa liberalisation and access talks. The EU report on Turkey of 2018 further emphasised the deteriorating political situation and the poor state of fundamental and human rights (European Commission, 2018b). At the time of writing, with the continued strengthening of the authoritarian government in Turkey, its accession to the EU looks more remote than ever.

The EU-Turkey Statement – implementation of the agreement

The implementation of the Agreement has been highly controversial. The deal was quickly criticised by civil society and international human rights organisations (Benvenuti, 2016). The Council of Europe and the UN were particularly worried about the legality of the deal. There are possible dire humanitarian repercussions of sending refugees back to Turkey, a country already overcrowded with Syrian refugees and with a questionable state of rule of law, democracy and human rights (Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, 2016; Nielsen, 2016b; PACE, 2016a, 2016b). Even in 2016, in the words of the PACE Report of the Council of Europe, the Agreement "at best strain[ed] and at worst exceed[ed] the limits of what is possible under European and international law" (PACE, 2016b). The main criticism was the unofficial categorisation of Turkey as a safe third country following the implementation of this deal, a categorisation previously rejected by both EU institutions and external human rights actors. Consequently, the readmission of refugees to Turkey could arguably be a breach of the non refoulement rule, or mass expulsion¹¹ (PACE, 2016b; Poon, 2016). The EU, however, states that they oblige to international law, and that mass expulsions are not taking place. In the words of the Commission: "These measures are carried out strictly in accordance with the requirements of EU and international law, and in full respect of the principle of nonrefoulement" (European Commission, 2017g, p. 5).

The EU-Turkey Statement consists of nine concrete points of action. For this thesis, these have been compressed to include only the essence of the nine points.

- 1) All new irregular migrants crossing from Turkey into Greek islands as of 20 March 2016 will be returned to Turkey, in accordance with EU and international law.
- 2) For every Syrian being returned to Turkey from Greek islands, another Syrian will be resettled from Turkey to the EU.

¹¹ Mass expulsion of refugees is a breach of Article 4 of the European Convention on Human Rights.

1

- 3) Turkey will take measures to prevent new sea or land routes from opening from Turkey to the EU.
- 4) Once irregular crossings between Turkey and the EU have been reduced, a Voluntary Humanitarian Admission Scheme will be activated.
- 5) The visa liberalisation process will be accelerated with the view of lifting visa requirements for Turkish citizens at the end of June 2016, provided all benchmarks have been met by Turkey.
- 6) The EU will all together fund Turkey with 6 billion euros under the Facility for Refugees in Turkey.
- 7) The work on upgrading the Customs Union will continue.
- 8) The accession process will be re-energised.
- 9) The parties will cooperate on improving humanitarian conditions in Syria (Council of the European Union, 2016a).

As for the functioning of the Agreement, the EU identifies three main objectives: "reducing both the number of persons arriving irregularly to the EU and the loss of life in the Aegean whilst providing safe and legal routes to the EU for those in need" (European Commission, 2017a, p. 4). Firstly, the deal seeks to discourage irregular migration to Europe. This objective is incorporated in the first and third point of the Agreement. The first point, returning all new irregular migrants from Greece to Turkey, decreases incentives for migrants to try to reach Europe. The third point binds Turkey to prevent new sea and land borders from opening, as migrants might look for other routes to Europe than crossing the sea.

The objective of discouraging irregular migration to Europe can be considered fulfilled, seeing as after the implementation of the Agreement, the number of people crossing the sea from Turkey to Greece has decreased by 97%. As of 26 March 2018, 2177 migrants have been returned from Greece to Turkey out of the 7,497 arrivals (European Commission, 2018c; UNHCR, 2018). Consequently, the number of lives lost at sea has also dropped, fulfilling also the second objective (European Commission, 2017a).

Thirdly, the Agreement seeks to deter human smuggling and prevent people from resorting to the dangerous and illegal routes across the Mediterranean and Aegean seas. As Turkey has struck down hard on smugglers, there has been a definite improvement on this area. However, some argue that there has not been provided sufficient safe and legal routes to reach Europe, which is essential to undermine the smugglers' business model (Benvenuti, 2016, p. 90;

McEwen, 2017, p. 24). As there now are fewer ways of getting to Europe, the fear is that some might resort to even riskier measures to get there, such as through Libya.

The second point of the Agreement provides a possibility for resettlement from Turkey to the EU through the one in-one out scheme. Under the one in-one out scheme, the resettlement of Syrians from Turkey into the EU has progressed in a steady pace. In September 2017, almost 9,000 resettlements had been executed (European Commission, 2017g). In addition to this, the resettlement scheme through the European Agenda on Migration has had a particular focus on resettling from Turkey, Jordan and Lebanon (European Commission, 2017f). These resettlement schemes have made steady progress, and is on track to reach the goals set out, which is 34,400 pledges by 16 Member States. However, it can be argued that these numbers are relatively modest compared to the amount of refugees Turkey is hosting. The number of resettlements to the EU fades in relation to the number of refugees Turkey is currently hosting, which is estimated at 3.9 million.

The EU states that the Agreement has indeed been successful (European Commission, 2017a). However, how successful the Agreement has been depends on what goals are used as yardsticks for measuring any success. If decreasing the amount of asylum seekers that reach Greece from Turkey was the goal, the Agreement is an astonishing success. However, if the goal was to create safe routes for refugees, or raise humanitarian standards for refugees, it is doubtful that these goals have been achieved.

Not all points in the Agreement has seen much progress. Point four on creating a Voluntary Humanitarian Admission Scheme has not been realised, despite irregular migration being at an all-time low. This is a "system of solidarity and burden sharing with Turkey for the protection of persons forcefully displaced to Turkey as a result of the conflict in Syria" (Council of the European Union, 2017, p. 1). Neither has Turkey seen much progress on visa facilitation, the upgrading of the Customs Union, and re-opening of accession talks, incorporated in points five, seven and eight. This thesis has a focus on the EU's motivation for the Agreement, not Turkey. However, these three points are likely main motivations for Turkey. The attempted coup in 2016 had major implications for these issues. The EP has called for the membership talks to be suspended. The visa liberalisation, initially promised by June 2016, has stood at a stand-still for over one year, with seven benchmarks remaining to be met (European Commission, 2017g). Consequently, President Erdoğan has threatened to scrap the whole agreement (Euractiv, 2017a; Nielsen, 2016a). Despite this, at the EU-Turkey Summit in Varna 26 March 2018 the EU and Turkey reiterated their commitment to continue cooperating (European Council, 2018).

The EU's motivation – the refugee crisis

The previous sections have outlined the EU-Turkey relationship, and the implementation of the Agreement. The following sections analyse the EU's motivation for the Agreement. The EU-Turkey Agreement states to have been concluded "[i]n order to break the business model of the smugglers and to offer migrants an alternative to putting their lives at risk" (Council of the European Union, 2016a, p. 1). The Agreement is largely portrayed by the EU as a deal to address humanitarian issues, preventing deaths at sea and human smuggling. However, this thesis argues that an equally important motivation was the EU's goal of resolving European challenges in the refugee crisis. In conclusion, the thesis argues that the EU-Turkey Agreement is the culmination of the failure of the EU to respond adequately to the refugee crisis, and its motivation is mainly based on self-interests of internal security.

To trace the EU's motivation for their Agreement with Turkey, one must go back to the beginning of the refugee crisis. Part of the problem the EU was facing when the refugee crisis came about was its own asylum and migration policy. The EU policies were not sufficient to deal with the massive influx. The Dublin Regulation stood out as a particular problematic part of EU asylum policy. It particularly burdened the frontline Member States. The EU started their search for ways to respond to the multiple challenges the refugee crisis entailed.

The EU quickly allocated funds outside Europe to address the root cause for irregular migration and to assist countries in handling the refugees (Council of the European Union, 2015b). The budget for Frontex operations Triton and Poseidon were tripled in May 2015 to help save lives at sea, and secure Europe's external borders. Thousands of lives were saved at sea by these operations. However, as long as the migration routes were functioning, there would still be deaths at sea. Only by stopping the refugee flow across the Mediterranean Sea could the death tolls be lowered to the minimum.

Regarding the overcrowded frontline Member States, a number of rectifying measures were attempted to make up for the uneven distribution. The relocation scheme was perhaps the most promising measure, launched in May 2015 under the European Agenda on Migration, however with little success. Greece and Italy were still under immense pressure, even though they also received assistance through the hotspot approach.

The EU was eventually under a lot of pressure to find a functional response to the refugee crisis. Media coverage of the refugee crisis put pressure on the EU to act. Media and press coverage is important in this context given that they have an important role in framing

and setting the agenda for issues in the public debate (Berry, Garcia-Blanco, & Moore, 2016, pp. 3-5). A comprehensive study by Cardiff School of Journalism, Media and Cultural Studies for the UNHCR found that the European attitude towards asylum and immigration has hardened over the last years (Berry et al., 2016). This partly due to the rise in immigration to Europe, as well as the financial crisis which led to a public anxiety about immigration across Europe. This, in turn, encouraged the growth of far-right anti-immigration sentiments. The study found that the European attitudes towards refugees and immigrants were highly polarised, being most positive in Sweden and most negative in the UK. However, there was concurrence that the EU should find a resolution to the refugee crisis, regardless whether they wanted the EU to stop immigrants from entering Europe, or to welcome them. When the EU did not quickly find a solution, they were perceived by many as slow, bureaucratic and divided. In Sweden, the press went so far as to directly blame the EU for the deaths in the Mediterranean Sea (Berry et al., 2016, p. 10).

With the surge of right-wing parties in Europe with anti-immigrant, as well as anti-EU sentiments, the pressure was higher than ever for the EU to find a functional response to the massive influx of asylum seekers. Part of the reason why the EU's initiatives were unsuccessful was certain Member States' reluctance to partake. One example is Poland, Hungary and the Czech Republic's reluctance to relocate refugees. Countries like Germany and Sweden were among the few countries leading liberal policies towards the refugees. There was a polarisation of opinions on how the refugee crisis should be managed.

Eventually also Sweden resorted to more restrictive measures and lowered their standards for asylum and migration to EU minimum standards. Merkel seemed to stand alone in her conviction that "we can do this". As well as receiving little support from other European countries, she also received criticism from German political parties and the German public. She could not resolve the refugee crisis alone, and advocated heavily for a more even distribution through a relocation mechanism, which turned out relatively unsuccessful. In the end, Merkel was the one advocating most heavily for the EU-Turkey Agreement, arguably because of the high pressure on Germany at the lack of an even distribution of asylum seekers.

The EU's motivation – Why Turkey?

Despite the EU's efforts, demand for more extensive measures remained. The EU saw cooperation with third countries as a necessary action. Turkey had for years been a popular

transit country for migrants and asylum seekers wanting to reach Europe (Içduygu, 2000). In 2015, Turkey was hosting over 2.5 million refugees. The same year, 800,000 refugees and migrants crossed the Aegean Sea from Turkey to Greece, accounting for 80 percent of the number of refugees entering Europe by sea in 2015 (UNHCR, 2015). Hence, limiting access for asylum seekers from Turkey would greatly decrease the number of asylum seekers coming to Europe.

The EU's actions towards Turkey underline their importance to the EU during the refugee crisis. As presented in the previous section, the EU initiated several meetings with Turkey in 2015, establishing the EU's interest to cooperate. Turkey was early on mentioned as an essential partner to the EU regarding the situation in Syria (Council of the European Union, 2015d). In the European Agenda on Migration, Turkey was the only country highlighted as a key transit country the EU wanted to establish a partnership of bilateral cooperation. It was described as "A good example of where there is much to be gained from stepping up cooperation" (European Commission, 2015b, p. 8).

Already in September 2015, at the informal meeting of EU heads of state or government on migration, it was stated that a reinforced dialogue with Turkey was important "[...] in order to strengthen our cooperation on stemming and managing the migratory flows" (Council of the European Union, 2015b). The EU-Turkey Joint Action Plan was outlined 15 October 2015, setting out priorities for the EU-Turkey cooperation on migration. The main objectives were to support Syrians under temporary protection and manage irregular migration. It was further pointed out that "[r]esults must be achieved in particular in stemming the influx of irregular migrants. The EU and Turkey agreed to implement the Joint Action Plan which will bring order into migratory flows and help to stem irregular migration." (European Commission, 2015e). The focus on the high migration influx to the EU was clearly emphasised. Hence, at this point one can consider this to be a main motivation for the EU behind their cooperation. In the Joint Action Plan it was also agreed that "The EU and Turkey will address this crisis together in a spirit of burden sharing." (European Commission, 2015a, p. 1). However, the result of the EU-Turkey Statement can hardly be said to promote the sharing of burdens. On the contrary, it rather promotes a shift of burdens from Europe to Turkey.

Another indicator of the importance of EU-Turkey cooperation on migration was the EU's delayed report on Turkey's progress late in 2015 (European Commission, 2015d). Fearing that EU criticism of Turkey would complicate the negotiations on how Turkey was assisting Europe in stemming the refugee flow, it is thought that the Report was delayed until after the

Turkish election which took place 1 November 2015 (Euractiv, 2015; Zalan, 2015). The four previous reports were published in mid-October, whereas the 2015 report was published 10 November. The 2015 report harshly criticised lack of rule of law and fundamental human rights in Turkey, criticism directed at Erdoğan who won the presidential election.

At the November EU-Turkey Summit, the re-starting of accession was agreed, although the overall negative position of EU Member States on Turkish accession was not different from the situation in 2005 (Phinnemore & İçener, 2016, p. 455). Phinnemore and İçener (2016) argue that this seemed contradictory to EU norms and values, given the increase in standards for membership in the EU, and the recent concerns for rule of law and fundamental rights outlined in the Turkey Progress Report. Phinnemore and İçener argue that the EU granted progress in negotiations in exchange for assistance with refugees and migrants. They categorise this move as a "realpolitik-driven side-lining of EU norms and values" (p. 451). If that is true, this would be an indication that the EU would go to great lengths to be able to benefit from cooperation with Turkey on the issue of migration and asylum.

Despite the enhanced cooperation between the EU and Turkey through the Joint Action Plan, the results were not sufficient. As Council President Tusk remarked after the meeting of the EU heads of state or government with Turkey on 7 March 2016: "We agreed that despite good implementation of the Joint Action Plan on migration, the flow of migrants passing from Turkey to Greece remains much too high and needs to be brought down significantly." (Council of the European Union, 2016b, p. 1). Speaking of the upcoming EU-Turkey Agreement, Tusk stated "[...] the days of irregular migration to the European Union are over" (Council of the European Union, 2016b). This proves the EU's satisfaction with the Agreement. As previously stated, the Agreement has been labelled a success by the Commission (European Commission, 2017a).

The EU's previous stance on EU-Turkey relations indicates that the option of such an elaborate cooperation agreement with Turkey was a measure of last resort. The sudden offer to re-open accession negotiations is surprising, given the negative 2015 Progress Report on Turkey. The negative attitudes of Member States towards Turkish accession is a further indication of the EU-Turkey Agreement being a last resort option. Even Germany, who had advocated strongly for internal relocation and opposed Turkish accession, was a strong supporter of the EU-Turkey Agreement. This indicates that even those of liberal refugee policies who advocated for internal resolutions saw that externalisation of policies might be the only solution.

Regarding the EU-Turkey Agreement, President of the European Commission Jean-Claude Juncker even stated that:

"In international relations, we are sometimes obliged to reach agreements with countries, those forming governments, leaders, not because we particularly like them but because we have a duty to help those who would suffer if we did not reach an agreement" (European Commission, 2016b).

The rhetoric Juncker uses in the statement above, as well as the rhetoric in the EU-Turkey Agreement, indicates the EU's main motivation being humanitarian. However, in the analysis, the main motivation of the EU has shown rather to be that of self interest in security. The failure of the Agreement to properly address humanitarian issues further emphasises the motivation of self-interests above humanitarian ones. The main example of this is the branding of Turkey as a safe country, when this is contested by multiple human rights NGOs as well as the Council of Europe Parliamentary Assembly.

Furthermore, one could argue that the EU-Turkey Agreement was simply a case of the EU paying Turkey to keep refugees out, and that the prospect of Turkish accession was never realistically on the table. Turkey has in recent years had a growing regional role and an enhanced political focus towards the Middle East and Russia. This leads to the notion that Turkey is turning away from the West, favouring an eastward orientation (Barysch, 2010).

Despite President Erdoğan maintaining a seemingly positive stance towards EU accession, the developments the country has undergone during his reign seems to indicate that Turkey is moving further away from EU norms and values, and consequently accession. Turkey has experienced decreasing liberalism and worrying developments of deteriorating rule of law and democracy in favour of an authoritarian regime since the beginning of Erdoğan's rule under AKP (Justice and Development Party). This, along with reported breaches of fundamental rights, is alienating Turkey from Western values and decreasing the chances of ever becoming a member state of the EU (Cagaptay, 2009). Moreover, the Islamist sentiments in Erdoğan's politics is incompatible with what the EU stands for (Kaya, 2015). Criticism of Erdoğan's rule by the EU and other actors have been rejected by President Erdoğan himself.

Furthermore, after the realisation of the EU-Turkey Agreement, Erdoğan has uttered several times that if the EU does not comply with Turkey's wishes, Turkey can 'open the gates' for refugees to Europe (Euractiv, 2017a, 2017b; Nielsen, 2016a). These kinds of threats indicate that Erdoğan has limited enthusiasm for cooperation with the EU. He stated that Turkey will

not cooperate with the EU at all costs. Furthermore, Erdoğan threatened to favour cooperation within the Shanghai Security Organisation (SCO)¹² above EU cooperation (Euractiv, 2016). With an increasing anti-EU rhetoric and growing nationalist sentiments, Turkey is far from gaining accession to the EU, strengthening the argument that Turkish accession is not realistic in the near future (Hackwill, 2017; Park, 2015, p. 591).

The growing gap created by the developments in Turkey in comparison to fundamental European values has led Turkey further and further away from EU membership. Turkey's ambivalent attitude towards EU accession, in combination with the hesitant stance towards Turkish accession by EU Member States and institutions stands as an indication that membership might have never have been realistically on the table during the negotiations. Instead, it may have acted merely as a cosmetic addition to the negotiations. As was reiterated at the Varna Summit in March 2018, Turkey and the EU are committed to continue cooperation on migration, despite the unlikely prospect of Turkish accession, further emphasising that accession was not a pivotal part of the deal.

To sum up, EU cooperation with Turkey has been tumultuous, characterised by political differences and discrepancies between the EU's core values built on rule of law, democracy and human rights and the situation in Turkey. This largely remains today, the gap growing even bigger after the attempted coup in 2016. The probability of accession has in turn been low ever since the accession talks began in 1995, albeit both parties' the efforts. However, this thesis argues that Turkey was such an important strategic partner during the refugee crisis that the EU was willing to cooperate regardless of this. This is proved through the extensive efforts the EU lay down in several Summits, and their willingness to re-invigorate accession talks, despite the discrepancies mentioned.

As for the EU-Turkey Agreement, the objectives of the Agreement set forth by the EU are considered largely successful, in that the flow of refugees decreased drastically, thereupon also the deaths at sea and human smuggling. However, many of the points of the Agreement has seen little or no progress. The fact that the Agreement has prevented deaths at sea is welcome. However, the possible dire humanitarian repercussions of sending refugees back and/or keeping them in Turkey, a country with a questionable state of rule of law, democracy

countries.

46

¹² The Shanghai Security Organisation is a security bloc with countries like Russia, China and Central Asian

and human rights standards puts a damper on the humanitarian aspect of the Agreement. To consider the EU-Turkey Agreement a success would therefore be a bold statement.

The decision to issue the EU-Turkey Statement was a measure of last resort, as the EU and its Member States were not able to internally resolve many of the challenges the refugee crisis entailed. The multiple measures taken by the EU, such as relocation and resettlement schemes, the hotspot procedures and Frontex operations at sea did not resolve the situation. The focus by many Member States on the security issue migration poses, increasing polarisation of opinions within the Union and the inability to act in unison placed considerable pressure on the EU to act.

These arguments indicate that the EU's main motivation was to stop the migration flow to Europe based on self-interests mainly of internal security, not humanitarian considerations. This argument is strengthened by looking at past tendencies of a security-focused asylum and migration policy, and the preference of externalisation instead of internal distribution measures. The focus on border security and externalisation in place of internal relocation during the refugee crisis further points to the EU-Turkey Agreement being a security oriented measure.

Chapter 5: EU policy development on asylum and migration

For this chapter, the thesis presents a discussion of the findings, and relate them to a larger context of motivations for EU policy-making in the area of asylum and migration. It will relate the findings to relevant theories and frameworks that help explain the EU's response to the refugee crisis, and why the EU-Turkey Agreement was concluded.

The first theory this chapter draws upon is the theory of securitisation, notably set out by Ole Wæver (Buzan, Wæver, & De Wilde, 1998). The theory states that by labelling something a security threat, it becomes one. By doing so, the actor claims a right to resort to extraordinary measures in order to prevent the realisation of that security threat. Taureck (2006) explains that by securitising an issue, "[t]he issue is then moved out of the sphere of normal politics into the realm of emergency politics, where it can be dealt with swiftly and without the normal (democratic) rules and regulations of policy-making" (p. 54).

The second theory this chapter presents is the *new intergovernmentalism* theory. Bickerton et al. (2015) argue that since the Maastricht Treaty, the importance of the supranational EU institutions in determining the character and direction of EU integration has been in question. Rather, integration has been driven by the search for policy co-ordination by the Member States through the Council. This post-Maastricht phase is labelled by these authors as new intergovernmentalism.

Uneven distribution as a lasting problem

The EU has not been able to fully address many of the challenges that a common European asylum and migration policy poses. Despite the advances in European cooperation on asylum and migration since the Schengen Agreement, the refugee crisis emphasised major deficiencies in the asylum and migration system. The inability of even distribution of asylum seekers was most prominent. The Dublin Regulation had since its outset been severely criticised, but no improvements were made to alter its distribution deficiencies, despite the Commission and the EP's calls for a permanent relocation mechanism (Trauner, 2016).

When the refugee crisis struck, this became a prominent problem. The incomplete asylum and migration policy led to emergency measures having to be taken by the EU during the refugee crisis. The Council emphasised the need for internal solidarity, based on a voluntary relocation system (Council of the European Union, 2015d). However, the Commission called

for a relocation mechanism that fairly involved all Member States (European Commission, 2015b). Although several Member States were opposed to the relocation scheme, the Commission's proposal was approved through quality majority voting in the Council – this despite the informal norm of wide-spread use of consensus in the Council (Trauner, 2016, p. 320). The use of majority voting shows the polarisation of the Member States (Trauner, 2016, p. 322). However, the Member States opposing the mechanism refused to relocate refugees. So the search continued for a solution to the overcrowded frontline Member States.

Externalisation as a solution?

Although some Member States have been sceptical of distribution mechanisms, they have been far more lenient towards externalisation practices. This is shown in the constant emphasis in the Council Programmes to increase the focus on the external approach to migration since the Tampere Summit. This thesis' analysis of the EU's response to the refugee crisis shows that this was also the case during the refugee crisis. The relocation scheme as proposed by the Commission barely achieved any results. Again, the Member States were more prone to enhanced border security and externalisation of the problem, culminating in the EU-Turkey Agreement.

The introduction of an external approach to migration could be seen early in the policy development. The focus on externalisation has continued throughout EU policy-making on the area. This externalisation development has seen significant progress since 1999, with different frameworks for cooperation with third countries being established. Both the Council, who initiated externalisation during the Tampere Council in 1999, and the Commission, who were given mandate by the Council to negotiate with third countries, showed interest in cooperating with third countries on issues of migration and asylum. Given the common interest of externalising policy on this area, progress came faster in this area than on internal distribution schemes.

A problematic aspect of externalisation of asylum and migration policy is the creation of a 'Fortress Europe' (Manners, 2002). First of all, the EU-Turkey Agreement's main feature is that it prevents migrants from reaching Europe. The EU-Turkey Agreement effectively returns all illegal immigrants to Turkey, and through the one in-one out scheme – that only applies to Syrians – the EU are selectively choosing who can enter the EU and who cannot. Another concerning aspect of externalising asylum and migration policy is the idea of creating

a 'protection lite' approach to refugee protection. Gammeltoft-Hansen pointed out the externalisation of asylum and migration policy as giving rise to a 'protection lite' on the grounds that refugee protection is being outsourced to countries of lower protection standards than the EU. This is recognised in the EU-Turkey Agreement, as critics are sceptical to the categorisation of Turkey as a safe third country and that the non-refoulement principle is being breached.

Securitisation or Normative Power Europe?

The EU is often conceptualised as a normative power. That is, an entity that is value-based, attempting to diffuse their norms and values through its actions on the international arena. The EU's values and norms are based on principles of democracy, rule of law, social justice and respect for human rights (Manners, 2002). In 2012, the EU was awarded the Nobel Peace Price on the grounds of having "[...] for over six decades contributed to the advancement of peace and reconciliation, democracy and human rights in Europe" (The Norwegian Nobel Committee, 2012). This illustrates the common view that the EU acts on the basis of human rights.

However, its response during the refugee crisis does not fully support this notion. This thesis has shown that in many ways, the EU's response to the refugee crisis, in particular their controversial agreement with Turkey, was based on interests of security. Consequently, the EU are contradicting the theory of Normative Power Europe. To be a normative power, the EU would have to exercise that normative power consistently (Manners, 2002). With the EU-Turkey Agreement, their norms and values of human rights are to a certain extent set aside for the benefit of securing Europe's external borders and the internal security.

This argument would fit the theory of securitisation. According to this theory, the risk of a security breach can allow extraordinary measures to be taken (Waever, 2014). By placing asylum and migration policy in the category of security policy (by among other things integrating it into the Area of Freedom, Security and Justice), migration to Europe is branded a potential security threat. To preserve internal and border security, extraordinary measures can therefore be taken. As shown in the previous chapter, the EU-Turkey Agreement can be argued to be a measure of last resort. Hence, it can be seen as an extraordinary measure and can thus be explained through the theory of securitisation. The findings of this thesis also indicate that motives of internal and external border security behind the EU-Turkey Agreement were strong. As argued in the previous chapter, human rights motives were present, but the continuation of

the Agreement despite the loud criticism of its consequences indicates that the motivation did not come mainly from a human rights standpoint.

Scholars argue that securitisation of migration can be executed at the cost of human rights (Huysmans, 2000; Triandafyllidou & Dimitriadi, 2014). The EU-Turkey Agreement has received harsh criticism on the grounds of alleged human rights violations. Although human rights motives were also present, the thesis' analysis proves that the EU's main motives for the Agreement stems from its inability to handle the refugee crisis internally. This culminated in a need to externalise their policy. A clear rhetoric of humanitarian goals and human rights values remain in the EU-Turkey Agreement. However, as Pace states: "If constructions of NPEU [Normative Power European Union] are to have any ethical and moral justifications then rhetoric has to add up to action" (2007, p. 1061).

Following the EU-Turkey Agreement, more extreme measures are now being taken. It has been suggested to duplicate the EU-Turkey Agreement in Libya. However, this proposal was criticised by several MEPs and rejected by the Commission on the grounds that the situation was not similar in Libya (European Parliament, 2016; Nielsen, 2017). However, Italy are taking similar action as they have outsourced border control to the Libyan Coast Guard in their Memorandum of Understanding in 2017 (The Italian Republic and the Libyan State, 2017). This cooperation agreement has received massive criticism, as conditions for refugees in Libya have been reported to be extremely bad (Guerin, 2017). This is a noteworthy development. It can be argued that the EU, through their increasingly controversial asylum and migration policy, are setting standards for what is acceptable in terms of security measures that affects protection of refugees and the upholding of international law and human rights.

New intergovernmentalism: Member States as prominent actors

The question then remains: how can one explain this focus on internal and border security within EU's asylum and migration policy? Trauner and Ripoll Servent argue that the emphasis on security can be explained by the Council's strong role in ASFJ policy (Trauner & Ripoll Servent, 2016). Even though the development of a common EU policy on asylum and migration has increasingly seen more power go to supranational EU institutions (i.e. the Commission, the EP and the CJEU), the Council has maintained their power and ability to implement their preferred policy.

While the EU have introduced common standards for asylum and migration in Europe, the different views of the Member States on these issues have resulted in a constricted development of the area. Despite these differing opinions, security concerning migration has been an issue of common concern where interests of Member States have largely coincided. Since the 1990s, migration was increasingly viewed as a security threat to the receiving countries, accused of being linked to crime, terrorism or Islamic fundamentalism (Boswell, 2003b, p. 623). There has therefore been an increased emphasis placed on internal and border security policy in connection to EU migration and asylum policy. Given the Member States' common position on the issue of internal and border security in connection to migration, a common stance in the Council, and hence decision making, has been quicker to achieve than in other areas of migration and asylum policy.

In a larger context, these findings seem to support the theory of *new intergovernmentalism*. The European Council and the Council of the EU are the intergovernmental EU institutions and will traditionally view national security as a top priority in policy making. The Commission and the EP, as the supranational institutions, will hold the common European values and norms higher. Securitisation on the expense of human rights would be a breach on these norms and values (Dogachan, 2017, p. 4). This is coherent with the thesis' findings that the Member States, through the Council, have acted as an advocate for security interests, and have managed to take charge of policy changes within asylum and migration. Through boycotting or only partially implementing EU measures, such as with the relocation scheme, Member States have shown resistance towards EU decisions that have taken a more liberal stance towards asylum and migration matters at the expense of national interests. The case with the relocation scheme led to the EU being forced to take other actions to solve the issue of the refugee flow, indicating that the Member States stand with significant power on these issues.

As mentioned in the beginning of this thesis, Kaunert and Leonard (2012) argued that the communitarisation of EU asylum and migration policy has led to a more liberal and less restrictive policy. This would seem to go against the theory of the Council being prone to more restrictive policies, and being the institution with most influence in migration and asylum policy. However, Trauner and Ripoll Servent argue that a less restrictive policy does not

_

¹³ Communitarisation is when there is a presence of a supranational aquis, e.g. the Commission and the EP are included in the aquis.

exclude the Council's strong role. They argue that the general development of EU asylum and migration policy indeed has become more liberal. However, they emphasise that the EP and the Commission have altered their liberal positions to a greater extent towards the Council's position, while the more 'restrictive' Council has largely maintained their position.

Trauner and Ripoll Servent (2016) argue that even though the EU's supranational institutions (e.g. the EP and the Commission) have gained competences, they have not altered the 'policy core' of ASFJ. This is on the grounds that the Council set the grounds for this 'policy core' before the institutional changes that led to this supranationalisation. The Council often had a security approach to migration and asylum policy, which prevailed over the more liberal stance of the EP and the Commission (p. 1417). These arguments support the new intergovernmentalism theory, that Member States still have the most influence on asylum and migration policy.

The Council has indeed sought higher standards for asylum procedures and facilities. The Reception Conditions Directive and the Qualification Directive, both aimed at raising common standards, were concluded by the Council while they still held sole decision making power in the transition period between 1999 and 2004. However, the Member States have maintained competence on several issues within asylum and migration. The number of refugees Member States are to take in has remained a competence of the respective state. Border control has also remained in the Member State's power, as they are able to re-introduce border controls.

Furthermore, one sees that there has been a notable difference in policy developments on asylum and migration. Not all aspects of the policy area have seen much development. Developments on the area of asylum seeker distribution, which has been the main deficiency of EU migration and asylum policy, has been slow and without significant results. The EU has failed to make decisions regarding relocation and even distribution among Member States. The Commission and the Parliament have advocated strongly for permanent relocation procedures, but these decisions have been stuck in the Council. Developments on the external dimension of asylum and migration policy and on external border security on the other hand, has seen rapid development.

This could be explained through examining national interests. EU Member States all have vested interests in the EU ensuring that the common external borders of the Union are secure, as well as ensuring internal security. EU Member States will only allow for common actions where it is least likely to go against national interests (Lavenex, 2001). Consequently, measures of distribution through relocation has been contested in the Council, while

externalisation to third countries has been encouraged. The common interest of internal security was at the core of the externalisation of migration and asylum policy (Koutrakos, 2010, p. 140). By framing migration as a security issue, externalising these policies are justified (E. Thielemann, 2018). However, deterrence measures are not solely sufficient to handle migration and asylum in Europe, especially not the human rights aspect of refugee protection. In fact, it is known to do the exact opposite (Triandafyllidou & Dimitriadi, 2014). Therefore, a conflict of interest occurs of the EU's interests of security, and their normative values.

The refugee crisis constituted a highly intergovernmental problem, and quickly posed as an issue of national security. A solution on the intergovernmental level was therefore more likely than a community response at the supranational level. Given the national interest of security and the Council's prominent role, it can be argued that the EU was guided towards a securitisation oriented response to the refugee crisis through increased border security and externalisation of policy in favour of internal relocation measures.

Chapter 6: Conclusion

This thesis aimed at answering why the EU resorted to the EU-Turkey bilateral agreement in response to the refugee crisis, despite the conflicted nature of the Agreement. It did so by researching the development of EU asylum and migration policy over time, and by analysing the reactions from EU institutions and Member States to the refugee crisis. This research brought out the EU's motivation to conclude the Agreement. In doing so, this thesis addresses the recent developments in EU policy-making in the area of asylum and migration, giving grounds for further research on the topic.

It becomes evident that the EU had several motives for their bilateral cooperation with Turkey. Through researching the development of EU asylum and migration policy, the thesis found that the EU initially did not conduct a particularly restrictive policy. However, the Member States hold a strong position in the asylum and migration policy area, resulting in a policy with a distinct security focus. The foundation the Council lay down during their period as the sole decision maker affected the policy area, making these security interests prominent. These national interests led to difficulties establishing mechanisms to remedy the uneven distribution of asylum seekers, primarily caused by the Dublin Regulation. Due to the political difficulties harmonising internal asylum and migration policy, the EU increasingly resorted to the managing of the external dimension of asylum and migration policy.

During the refugee crisis, Member States still had not solved the problem of uneven distributions of asylum seekers. Even though the Commission's relocation proposal went through on account of QMV in the Council, the scheme was largely unsuccessful as Member States were unwilling to commit fully, or not at all. The crisis created a divide in the European population on how to handle the refugee crisis. The German Chancellor Merkel called for European solidarity, but met harsh opposition to her liberal policy. Many considered the refugee flow a security threat, consequently introducing restrictive measures. The rise of right-wing and nationalist populist parties increased anti-immigrant sentiments and intensified the polarisation of opinions.

The increasing polarisation of opinions induced the EU to act. The EU's efforts were affected by the lack of common and swift decision making. A focus on security issues through the Council's leadership tainted the development of the policy, and remained through the refugee crisis, limiting the ways in which the EU was likely to act. The favoured efforts were security measures at the external borders and third country cooperation. This substantiates the

theory of new intergovernmentalism in EU asylum and migration policy, confirming the power the Member States hold.

The analysis of the EU's motivation shows that the Agreement with Turkey was based in large part on internal interests of security, as human rights concerns were only moderately taken into account both in the actual Agreement, and in the implementation of the Agreement. Despite years of stalemate in membership negotiations on the grounds of the political situation in Turkey, as well as concerns for the fundamental and human rights situation, the EU turned to Turkey for cooperation on migration. Turkish EU accession was not a major motivation for either party to the Agreement. Both EU Member States and institutions and Turkish President Erdoğan have recently shown growing reluctance to contemplate actual EU accession by Turkey, albeit for different reasons. The continued cooperation on migration agreed at the Varna Summit in March 2018 at a time when membership prospects are lower than ever, is further proof of the irrelevance of membership as a motive to the Agreement.

With the lack of motivation on a humanitarian basis, and because of the state of Turkish accession, the thesis argues that the Agreement mainly boils down to – colloquially speaking – the EU paying Turkey to keep refugees out. This argument is backed up by EU's historically security oriented asylum and migration policy, preferring externalisation and security measures over internal measures. The Member States' prominent role in asylum and migration policy continued during the refugee crisis, and can be argued to have pushed the EU towards making a security oriented response.

As chapter five has shown, the theory of securitisation helps to explain how the refugee crisis was viewed as a security threat, giving grounds to act through emergency measures, regardless of the questionable human rights nature of the measures or of Turkey as a partner in the Agreement. New intergovernmentalism in turn can help explain how and why the Member States through the Council were able to maintain a focus on security throughout asylum and migration policy making.

This thesis concludes that the EU-Turkey Agreement can be attributed to the failure of the EU as a whole to respond adequately to the refugee crisis. The findings indicate that instead of acting as a normative power, the EU acted on motives of security interests, and could do so because of the prominent role of the Member States. The refugee crisis posed a challenging situation to solve, and there is perhaps no perfect solution. Consideration must be given to the conflicting aims of the respect of human rights, the security of the EU and the managing of asylum and migration in Europe. This thesis has pointed out some of the difficulties in

balancing these three factors in the EU's policy making. In this case study, security considerations appear to have prevailed. If that is the case, this is a problematic development for the EU, as human rights are one of the fundamental values the EU is built on, and it has created a strong narrative about itself as an international defender of such values. By externalising refugee protection to third countries with significantly lower standards than the EU holds, this facilitates Gammeltoft-Hansen's notion of refugees being victims of 'protection lite'. The fact that the EU are accommodating this, sets precedence for future action, and endangers the values of refugee protection.

However, generalisations about the EU's asylum and migration policy let alone its future development are not possible based on the case of the EU-Turkey Agreement alone, which was arguably negotiated and implemented in an exceptional crisis situation. This thesis has focused on the EU's motivation for the EU-Turkey Agreement. Further research could benefit from exploring Turkey's motives, as these do not seem to be evident. To gain deeper insights into contemporary developments in EU asylum and migration policy, future research could benefit from further exploring the Member States' influence in this policy area. With the exit of the UK from the EU, this sets the precedence for future disputes between Member States and the EU. There is, for example, an obvious discrepancy between the often restrictive policy preferences of many Member States, and the more liberal policy of the supranational institutions of the EU, which perhaps care more about the EU's internal and external identity and image.

List of references

- Amnesty International. (2015). Unlawful Detention and Deportation of Refugees from Turkey. Retrieved 10.04.2018

 https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/eur44/3022/2015/en/
- Andrijasevic, R. (2006). How to balance rights and responsibilities on asylum at the EU's southern border of Italy and Libya. *Centre on Migration, Policy and Society*.
- Barutciski, M., & Suhrke, A. (2001). Lessons from the Kosovo Refugee Crisis: Innovatons in Protection and Burden-sharing. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, *14*(2), 95-134.
- Barysch, K. (2010). Can Turkey combine EU accession and regional leadership? *Centre for European Reform*.
- Benvenuti, B. (2016). The Migration Paradox and EU-Turkey Relations. *Politics*, 21(1).
- Berry, M., Garcia-Blanco, I., & Moore, K. (2016). Press coverage of the refugee and migrant crisis in the EU: A content analysis of five European countries.
- Bickerton, C. J., Hodson, D., & Puetter, U. (2015). The new intergovernmentalism: European integration in the post-Maastricht era. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 53(4), 703-722.
- Bordignon, M., & Moriconi, S. (2017). The case for a common European refugee policy. *Policy Contribution*(8), 1-13.
- Boswell, C. (2003a). Burden-sharing in the European Union: lessons from the German and UK experience. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 16(3), 316-335.
- Boswell, C. (2003b). The 'external dimension' of EU immigration and asylum policy. *International affairs*, 79(3), 619-638.
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. *Qualitative* research journal, 9(2), 27-40.
- Buzan, B., Wæver, O., & De Wilde, J. (1998). *Security: a new framework for analysis*: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Cagaptay, S. (2009). Turkey's Turn From the West. Retrieved 30.04.2018, from Washington Post http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2009/02/01/AR2009020101672.html

- Cassarino, J.-P. (2007). Informalising readmission agreements in the EU neighbourhood. *The International Spectator*, 42(2), 179-196.
- Cassarino, J.-P. (2011). Resilient Bilateralism in the Cooperation on Readmission *The*External Dimension of the European Union's Area of Freedom, Security and Justice
 (pp. 191-208). Brussels, Belgium: P.I.E. Peter Lang.
- Cherubini, F. (2017). The "EU-Turkey Statement" of 18 March 2016: A (Umpteenth?)

 Celebration of Migration Outsourcing. In S. Baldin & M. Zago (Eds.), *Europe of Migrations: Policies, Legal Issues and Experiences* (pp. 33-47).
- Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights. (2016). The implementation of the EU-Turkey deal must uphold human rights. Retrieved 08.02.2018 https://www.coe.int/tr/web/commissioner/-/the-implementation-of-the-eu-turkey-deal-must-uphold-human-rights
- Council of the European Union. (2000). 2000/596/EC: Council Decision of 28 September 2000 establishing a European Refugee Fund. Retrieved 16.03.2018 http://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX:32000D0596
- Council of the European Union. (2001). Council Directive 2001/55/EC of 20 July 2001 on minimum standards for giving temporary protection in the event of a mass influx of displaced persons and on measures promoting a balance of efforts between Member States in receiving such persons and bearing the consequences thereof. http://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex:32001L0055
- Council of the European Union. (2003). General affairs and external relations 2518th Council meeting Retrieved 06.04.2018

 http://www.consilium.europa.eu/ueDocs/cms_Data/docs/pressdata/en/gena/76201.pdf
- Council of the European Union. (2009). The Stockholm Programme An open and secure

 Europe serving and protecting the citizen. Retrieved 12.03.2018

 https://ec.europa.eu/antitrafficking/sites/antitrafficking/files/the_stockholm_programme__an_open_and_secure_europe_en_1.pdf
- Council of the European Union. (2015a). Council Decision (EU) 2015/1523 of 14 September 2015 establishing provisional measures in the area of international protection for the

- benefit of Italy and of Greece. Retrieved 22.03.2018 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32015D1523&from=EN
- Council of the European Union. (2015b). Informal meeting of EU heads of state or government on migration, 23 September 2015. Retrieved 11.04.2018 http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2015/09/23/statement-informal-meeting/pdf
- Council of the European Union. (2015c). Outcome of the 3405th Council meeting. Retrieved 20.03.2018 http://www.consilium.europa.eu/media/22985/st11097en15.pdf
- Council of the European Union. (2015d). Special meeting of the European Council, 23 April 2015. Retrieved 11.04.2018 http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2015/04/23/special-euco-statement/pdf
- Council of the European Union. (2016a). EU-Turkey statement, 18 March 2016. Retrieved 08.02.2018 http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2016/03/18/euturkey-statement/pdf
- Council of the European Union. (2016b). Remarks by President Donald Tusk after the meeting of the EU heads of state or government with Turkey. Retrieved 11.04.2018 http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2016/03/07/tusk-remarks-euturkey-meeting/pdf
- Council of the European Union. (2017). Voluntary Humanitarian Admission Scheme with Turkey. Retrieved 11.05.2018, from Council of the European Union http://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-14571-2017-REV-1/en/pdf
- Court of Justice of the European Union. (2011). Joined Cases C-411/10 and C-493/10 N. S. v Secretary of State for the Home Department and M. E. and Others v Refugee Applications Commissioner and Minister for Justice, Equality and Law Reform. Retrieved 19.03.2018 https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A62010CJ0411
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches: Sage publications.
- Dernbach, A. (2015). Germany suspends Dublin agreement for Syrian refugees. Retrieved 27.03.2018, from Euractiv https://www.euractiv.com/section/economy-jobs/news/germany-suspends-dublin-agreement-for-syrian-refugees/

- Dimitriadi, A. (2016). *Deals without borders: Europe's foreign policy on migration*: European Council on Foreign Relations (ECFR).
- Directorate General for Internal Policies. (2016). The Implementation of the Common European Asylum System. Retrieved 16.03.2018, from the European Parliament http://www.europarl.europa.eu/thinktank/en/document.html?reference=IPOL_STU(20 16)556953
- Dogachan, D. (2017). Refugee Crisis in Europe (2015-2016): The Clash of Intergovernmental and Supranational Perspectives. *International Journal of Social Sciences*, 6(1), 1-8.
- Euractiv. (2015). EU report slams Turkey over rule of law, free speech. Retrieved 14.04.2018, from Euractiv https://www.euractiv.com/section/global-europe/news/eureport-slams-turkey-over-rule-of-law-free-speech/
- Euractiv. (2016). Fed up with EU, Erdogan says Turkey could join 'Shanghai Five' bloc.

 Retrieved 30.04.2018, from Euractiv

 https://www.euractiv.com/section/enlargement/news/fed-up-with-eu-erdogan-says-turkey-could-join-shanghai-five-bloc/
- Euractiv. (2017a). Erdogan warns Turkey could 'say goodbye' to EU. Retrieved 09.04.2018, from Euractiv https://www.euractiv.com/section/enlargement/news/erdogan-warns-turkey-could-say-goodbye-to-eu/
- Euractiv. (2017b). Turkey threatens to send Europe '15,000 refugees a month'. Retrieved 30.04.2018, from Euractiv https://www.euractiv.com/section/global-europe/news/turkey-threatens-to-send-europe-15000-refugees-a-month/
- European Commission. (2007). Green paper on the future Common European Asylum System Retrieved 15.03.2018, from the European Commission http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/GA/TXT/?uri=celex:52007DC0301
- European Commission. (2010). Study on the Feasibility of Establishing a Mechanism for the Relocation of Beneficiaries of International Protection. Retrieved 20.03.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/e-library/docs/pdf/final_report_relocation_of_refugees_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2011a). The Global Approach to Migration and Mobility Retrieved 13.03.2018, from the European Commission http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52011DC0743&from=EN

- European Commission. (2011b). Proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing the Asylum and Migration Fund. Retrieved 16.03.2018, from the European Commission

 http://www.europarl.europa.eu/meetdocs/2009_2014/documents/com/com_com(2011)

 0751_/com_com(2011)0751_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2012). Positive EU-Turkey agenda launched in Ankara. Retrieved 04.04.2018, from the European Commission http://europa.eu/rapid/pressrelease_MEMO-12-359_en.htm
- European Commission. (2014). An open and secure Europe: making it happen. Retrieved 13.03.2018, from the European Commission http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52014DC0154&from=EN
- European Commission. (2015a). EU-Turkey joint action plan. Retrieved 04.04.2018, from the European Commission http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_MEMO-15-5860_en.htm
- European Commission. (2015b). The European Agenda on Migration. Retrieved 07.02.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/anti-trafficking/sites/antitrafficking/files/communication_on_the_european_agenda_on_migration_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2015c). The European Union's cooperation with Africa on migration. Retrieved 09.04.2018, from the European Commission http://europa.eu/rapid/pressrelease_MEMO-15-4832_en.htm
- European Commission. (2015d). Key findings of the 2015 report on Turkey. Retrieved 14.04.2018, from the European Commission europa.eu/rapid/press-release_MEMO-15-6039_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2015e). Meeting of heads of state or government with Turkey EU-Turkey statement. Retrieved 04.04.2018, from the European Commission http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_STATEMENT-15-6194_en.htm
- European Commission. (2015f). Proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing an EU common list of safe countries of origin for the purposes of Directive 2013/32/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on common procedures for granting and withdrawing international protection, and

- amending Directive 2013/32/EU. Retrieved 03.04.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/european-agenda-migration/proposal-implementation-package/docs/proposal_for_regulation_of_the_ep_and_council_establishing_an_eu_c ommon_list_of_safe_countries_of_origin_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2016a). EU operations in the Mediterranean Sea. Retrieved 22.03.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/securing-eu-borders/fact-sheets/docs/20161006/eu_operations_in_the_mediterranean_sea_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2016b). EU reactions to the situation in Turkey. Retrieved 11.04.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/malta/news/eureactions-situation-turkey_en
- European Commission. (2016c). Questions & Answers: the new European Border and Coast Guard Agency. Retrieved 22.03.2018, from the European Commission http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_MEMO-16-3308_en.htm
- European Commission. (2016d). Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for examining an application for international protection lodged in one of the Member States by a third-country national or a stateless person (recast). Retrieved 21.03.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/european-agendamigration/proposal-implementation-package/docs/20160504/dublin_reform_proposal_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2017a). The EU-Turkey Statement One Year On. Retrieved 07.02.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/european-agendamigration/background-information/eu_turkey_statement_17032017_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2017b). Relocation and Resettlement: Commission calls on all Member States to deliver and meet obligations. Retrieved 21.03.2018, from the European Commission http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-17-1302_en.htm

- European Commission. (2017c). Relocation and Resettlement: Steady progress made but more efforts needed to meet targets. Retrieved 21.03.2018, from the European Commission http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-17-908_en.htm
- European Commission. (2017d). Relocation: EU solidarity between Member States.

 Retrieved 20.03.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/european-agenda-migration/20171114_relocation_eu_solidarity_between_member_states_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2017e). Resettlement and Legal Migration. Retrieved 20.03.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/european-agenda-migration/background-information_en
- European Commission. (2017f). Resettlement: Ensuring safe and legal access to protection for refugees. Retrieved 13.04.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/european-agenda-migration/20171114_resettlement_ensuring_safe_and_legal_access_to_protection_for _refugees_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2017g). Seventh Report on the Progress made in the implementation of the EU-Turkey
- Statement. Retrieved 09.04.2018, from the European Commission

 https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhoodenlargement/sites/near/files/20170906_seventh_report_on_the_progress_in_the_imple
 mentation_of_the_eu-turkey_statement_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2018a). Country responsible for asylum application (Dublin).

 Retrieved 03.04.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/asylum/examination-of-applicants_en
- European Commission. (2018b). Key findings of the 2018 Report on Turkey. Retrieved 30.04.2018, from the European Commission http://europa.eu/rapid/pressrelease_MEMO-18-3407_en.htm
- European Commission. (2018c). Operational implementation of the EU-Turkey Statement. Retrieved 13.04.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-

- affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/european-agenda-migration/press-material/docs/state_of_play_-_eu-turkey_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2018d). Progress report on the Implementation of the European Agenda on Migration. Retrieved 10.04.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/european-agenda-migration/20180314_annex-4-progress-report-european-agenda-migration_en.pdf
- European Commission. (n.d.). The Hotspot approach to managing exceptional migratory flows. Retrieved 22.03.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/e-library/multimedia/publications/the-hotspot-approach-to-managing-exceptional-migratory-flows_en
- European Council. (2005). The Hague Programme: Strengthening Freedom, Security and Justice in the European Union. Retrieved 12.03.2018 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex:52005XG0812(01)
- European Council. (2016). Meeting of the EU heads of state or government with Turkey, 07/03/2016. Retrieved 04.04.2018, from the European Council http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/meetings/international-summit/2016/03/07/
- European Council. (2018). Remarks by President Donald Tusk following the EU-Turkey leaders' meeting in Varna. Retrieved 13.04.2018, from the European council http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2018/03/26/remarks-by-president-donald-tusk-after-the-eu-turkey-leaders-meeting/
- European Council on Refugees and Exiles. (2006). Report on the Application of the Dublin II Regulation in Europe. from European Legal Network on Asylum https://www.ecre.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ECRE-ELENA-Report-on-the-Application-of-the-Dublin-II-Regulation-in-Europe-_March-2006.pdf
- European External Action Service. (2018). EU-Turkey Relations. Retrieved 09.04.2018 https://eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/headquarters-homepage_en/19163/EU-Libya%20relations
- European Migration Network. (2018a). EMN Glossary Asylum shopping. Retrieved 10.03.2018, from Migration and Home Affairs https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/content/asylum-shopping-0_en

- European Migration Network. (2018b). EMN Glossary Refugees in orbit. Retrieved 10.03.2018, from Migration and Home Affairs https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/content/refugee-orbit_en
- European Parliament. (2012). Enhanced intra-EU solidarity in the field of asylum (2012/2032(INI)). Retrieved 20.03.2018, from the European Parliament http://www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?pubRef=-//EP//TEXT+REPORT+A7-2012-0248+0+DOC+XML+V0//EN&language=ga
- European Parliament. (2016). Migration: MEPs back cooperation with Africa but warn against new "Turkey deals". Retrieved 13.04.2018, from the European Parliament http://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/press-room/20160603IPR30218/migration-meps-back-cooperation-with-africa-but-warn-against-new-turkey-deals
- European Parliament. (2017). Safe countries of origin: Proposed common EU list. Retrieved 27.04.2018, from the European Parliament http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2015/569008/EPRS_BRI(2015) 569008_EN.pdf
- European Parliament. (2018). Migration and asylum: a challenge for Europe. Retrieved 13.03.2018, from the European Parliament http://www.europarl.europa.eu/factsheets
- European Parliament and Council of the European Union. (2008). Directive 2008/115/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008
- on common standards and procedures in Member States for returning illegally staying third-country nationals. Retrieved 14.03.2018 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:348:0098:0107:EN:PDF
- European Parliament and Council of the European Union. (2010). Regulation (EU) No 439/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 May 2010 establishing a European Asylum Support Office. Retrieved 14.03.2018 https://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2010:132:0011:0028:EN:PDF
- European Parliament and Council of the European Union. (2013). REGULATION (EU) No 604/2013 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 26 June 2013 establishing the criteria and mechanisms for determining the Member State responsible for examining an application for international protection lodged in one of the Member States by a third-country national or a stateless person. Retrieved

- 14.02.2018 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32013R0604&from=EN
- European Parliament and Council of the European Union. (2016). Regulation (EU) 2016/1624 of the European Parliament and Council of the European Union of 14 September 2016 on the European Border and Coast Guard and amending Regulation (EU) 2016/399 of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Regulation (EC) No 863/2007 of the European Parliament and of the Council, Council Regulation (EC) No 2007/2004 and Council Decision 2005/267/EC. Retrieved 22.03.2018 https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32016R1624&from=EN
- European Union. (2018). European Border and Coast Guard Agency (Frontex). Retrieved 04.05.2018 https://europa.eu/european-union/about-eu/agencies/frontex_en
- Eurostat. (2016a). Asylum applicants in the EU. Retrieved 27.03.2018 http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/news/themes-in-the-spotlight/asylum2015
- Eurostat. (2016b). Asylum in the EU Member States. Retrieved 07.02.2018 http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/7203832/3-04032016-AP-EN.pdf/790eba01-381c-4163-bcd2-a54959b99ed6
- Eurostat. (2017a). Asylum applicants in the EU. Retrieved 27.03.2018 http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/news/themes-in-the-spotlight/asylum2016
- Eurostat. (2017b). Asylum in the EU Member States. Retrieved 07.02.2018 http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/7921609/3-16032017-BP-EN.pdf/e5fa98bb-5d9d-4297-9168-d07c67d1c9e1
- Frontex European Border and Coast Guard Agency. (2017). Frontex Operations. Retrieved 22.03.2018 https://frontex.europa.eu/faq/frontex-operations/
- Gammeltoft-Hansen, T. (2007). *The extraterritorialisation of asylum and the advent of protection lite*: DIIS Working Paper.
- Garlick, M. (2006). The EU Discussions on Extraterritorial Processing: Solution or Conundrum? *International Journal of Refugee Law*, 18(3-4), 601-629.
- Geddes, A. (2000). *Immigration and European integration: beyond fortress Europe?*: Manchester Universal Press.

- Guerin, O. (2017). Libyan migrant detention centre: 'It's like hell'. Retrieved 12.02.2018, from BBC
- Guiraudon, V. (2000). European integration and migration policy: Vertical policy-making as venue shopping. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 38(2), 251-271.
- Guiraudon, V. (2018). The 2015 refugee crisis was not a turning point: Explaining policy inertia in EU border control. *European Political Science*, *17*(1), 151-160.
- Hackwill, R. (2017). Erdogan's rhetoric threatens Turkey's future relations with EU.

 Retrieved 30.04.2018, from Euronews

 http://www.euronews.com/2017/03/22/erdogan-s-rhetoric-threatens-turkey-s-future-relations-with-eu
- Haferlach, L., & Kurban, D. (2017). Lessons Learnt from the EU-Turkey Refugee Agreement in Guiding EU Migration Partnerships with Origin and Transit Countries. *Global Policy*, 8(S4), 85-93.
- Haferlach, L., Tekin, F., & Wódka, J. (2017). Friends. Foes. Frenemies? Unpacking the future of EU-Turkey relations. *Futures*(97), 53-62.
- Havlová, R., & Tamchynová, K. (2016). The Uncertain Role of the EU Countries in the Syrian Refugee Crisis 1. *Insight Turkey*, 18(2), 85.
- Hsieh, H.-F., & Shannon, S. E. (2005). Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. *Qualitative health research*, 15(9), 1277-1288.
- Human Rights Watch. (2015). Turkey: Syrians Pushed Back at the Border. Retrieved 10.04.2018, from Human Rights Watch https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/11/23/turkey-syrians-pushed-back-border
- Human Rights Watch. (2017). Turkey: Events of 2016. Retrieved 05.03.2018, from Human Rights Watch https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2017/country-chapters/turkey
- Hurwitz, A. (1999). The 1990 Dublin Convention: a comprehensive assessment: Oxford University Press.
- Huysmans, J. (2000). The European Union and the securitization of migration. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, *38*(5), 751-777.
- Huysmans, J. (2006). *The politics of insecurity: Fear, migration and asylum in the EU*: Routledge.

- Içduygu, A. (2000). The politics of international migratory regimes: Transit migration flows in Turkey. *International Social Science Journal*, *52*(165), 357-367.
- International Organization for Migration. (2016). IOM Counts 3,771 Migrant Fatalities in Mediterranean in 2015. Retrieved 19.03.2018 https://www.iom.int/news/iom-counts-3771-migrant-fatalities-mediterranean-2015
- Jacobsen, H. (2015). Sweden ends open door policy for asylum seekers. Retrieved 29.03.2018, from Euractiv https://www.euractiv.com/section/justice-home-affairs/news/sweden-ends-open-door-policy-for-asylum-seekers/
- Karnitschnig, M. (2016). How Turkey held the EU for ransom. Retrieved 06.04.2018, from Politico https://www.politico.eu/article/turkey-eu-closes-in-on-migration-refugees-crisis-deal-but-at-a-heavy-price/
- Karnitschnig, M., & Barigazzi, J. (2016). EU and Turkey reach refugee deal. Retrieved 06.04.2018, from Politico https://www.politico.eu/article/eu-and-turkey-finalize-refugee-deal/
- Kaunert, C., & Léonard, S. (2012). The development of the EU asylum policy: venue-shopping in perspective. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 19(9), 1396-1413.
- Kaya, A. (2015). Islamisation of Turkey under the AKP rule: Empowering family, faith and charity. *South European Society and Politics*, 20(1), 47-69.
- Klepp, S. (2010). A contested asylum system: The European Union between refugee protection and border control in the Mediterranean Sea. *European Journal of Migration and Law, 12*(1), 1-21.
- Koutrakos, P. (2010). The external dimension of the AFSJ and other EU external policies. In M. Cremona, J. Monar, & S. Poli (Eds.), *The external dimension of the European Union's area of freedom, security and justice* (pp. 139-162). Germany: P.I.E. Peter Lang.
- Lavenex, S. (2001). The Europeanization of refugee policies: Normative challenges and institutional legacies. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, *39*(5), 851-874.
- López-Sala, A., & Godenau, D. (2016). Integrated Border Management and Irregular

 Migration at the South European-North African Border: The Case of Spain. In P.

 Bossong & H. Carrapico (Eds.), *EU Borders and Shifting Internal Security*.

 Switzerland: Springer.

- Manners, I. (2002). Normative power Europe: a contradiction in terms? *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 40(2), 235-258.
- Marinho, C., & Heinonen, M. (1998). Dublin after Schengen: Allocating responsibility for examining asylum applications in practice. *EIPASCOPE*, 1998(3), 1-12.
- McEwen, M. (2017). Refugee Resettlement in Crisis: The failure of the EU-Turkey Deal and the Case of Burden-Sharing. *Swarthmore International Relations Journal*, 1(2), 20-32.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*: John Wiley & Sons.
- Migration and Home Affairs. (2018a). Border Crossings. Retrieved 13.03.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/borders-and-visas/border-crossing_en
- Migration and Home Affairs. (2018b). Common European Asylum System. Retrieved 13.03.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/asylum_en
- Migration and Home affairs. (2018c). Schengen, borders and Visa. Retrieved 13.03.2018, from the European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/borders-and-visas/schengen
- Milan, F. F. (2016). Turkey: What hides behind a failed coup attempt. *The RUSI Journal*, *161*(4), 28-32.
- Mudde, C. (2016). Europe's Populist Surge: A Long Time in the Making. Foreign Aff., 95, 25.
- Mushaben, J. M. (2017). Angela Merkel's Leadership in the Refugee Crisis. *Current History*, 116(788), 95.
- Maas, S., Jurado, E., Capdevila, M., Labayle, M., & Hayward, L. (2015). Evaluation of the Dublin III Regulation Final Report. Retrieved 03.04.2018, from European Commission https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/asylum/examination-of-applicants/docs/evaluation_of_the_dublin_iii_regulation_en.pdf
- Nakache, D., & Losier, J. (2017). The European Union Immigration Agreement with Libya: Out of Sight, Out of Mind? Retrieved 04.05.2018, from E-International Relations

- http://www.e-ir.info/2017/07/25/the-european-union-immigration-agreement-with-libya-out-of-sight-out-of-mind/
- Nielsen, N. (2016a). Turkey threatens to scrap migrant deal with EU, again. Retrieved 09.04.2018, from EU Observer https://euobserver.com/migration/134539
- Nielsen, N. (2016b). UN outlines legal concerns on EU-Turkey deal. Retrieved 06.04.2018, from EU observer https://euobserver.com/migration/132696
- Nielsen, N. (2017). No Turkey-type migrant deal with Libya, says EU commission.

 Retrieved 13.04.2018, from EU Observer https://euobserver.com/migration/136656
- OECD. (2017). International Migration Outlook 2017. from OECD Publishing http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/migr_outlook-2017-en
- PACE. (2016a). PACE raises human rights questions over EU-Turkey migrant deal
- . Retrieved 03.04.2018 http://assembly.coe.int/nw/xml/News/News-View-EN.asp?newsid=6132&lang=2
- PACE. (2016b). The situation of refugees and migrants under the EU-Turkey
- Agreement of 18 March 2016. Retrieved 07.02.2018 http://semantic-pace.net/tools/pdf.aspx?doc=aHR0cDovL2Fzc2VtYmx5LmNvZS5pbnQvbncveG1sL 1hSZWYvWDJILURXLWV4dHIuYXNwP2ZpbGVpZD0yMjYxMiZsYW5nPUVO &xsl=aHR0cDovL3NlbWFudGljcGFjZS5uZXQvWHNsdC9QZGYvWFJlZi1XRC1B VC1YTUwyUERGLnhzbA==&xsltparams=ZmlsZWlkPTIyNjEy
- Pace, M. (2007). The construction of EU normative power. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 45(5), 1041-1064.
- Park, B. (2015). Turkey's isolated stance: an ally no more, or just the usual turbulence? *International affairs*, 91(3), 581-600.
- Peers, S. (2016). The final EU/Turkey refugee deal: a legal assessment. Retrieved 10.04.2018, from EU Law Analysis http://eulawanalysis.blogspot.no/2016/03/the-final-euturkey-refugee-deal-legal.html
- Phinnemore, D., & İçener, E. (2016). Holding the door half (?) open: the EU and Turkey 10 years on. *Journal of Contemporary European Studies*, 24(4), 446-462.
- Poon, J. (2016). EU-Turkey Deal: Violation of, or Consistency with, International Law? *European Papers*, *1*, 1195-1203.

- Pop, V. (2010). EU and Turkey accession talks advance at snail's pace. Retrieved 03.04.2018, from EU Observer https://euobserver.com/enlargement/30390
- Reuters. (2017). EU raises human rights in talks with Turkey's Erdogan. Retrieved 05.03.2018 https://www.reuters.com/article/us-eu-turkey/eu-raises-human-rights-in-talks-with-turkeys-erdogan-idUSKBN18L1VT
- Rygiel, K., Baban, F., & Ilcan, S. (2016). The Syrian refugee crisis: The EU-Turkey 'deal' and temporary protection. *Global Social Policy*, *16*(3), 315-320.
- Salazar, J. (2017). The EU's Internal and External Responses to the European Immigration Crisis. *Global Societies Journal*, *5*, 85-105.
- The Schengen acquis Convention implementing the Schengen Agreement of 14 June 1985 between the Governments of the States of the Benelux Economic Union, the Federal Republic of Germany and the French Republic on the gradual abolition of checks at their common borders (1985). Retrieved 10.03.2018 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex:42000A0922(02)
- Smith, H. (2015). Shocking images of drowned Syrian boy show tragic plight of refugees.

 Retrieved 19.03.2018, from The Guardian

 https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/sep/02/shocking-image-of-drowned-syrian-boy-shows-tragic-plight-of-refugees
- Sterkx, S. (2010). The external dimension of EU asylum and migration policy: expanding fortress Europe's global role: External policies of the European Union, 117-138.
- Stockholm Center for Freedom. (2018). European Parliament strongly condemns human rights violations in Turkey. Retrieved 05.03.2018 https://stockholmcf.org/european-parliament-strongly-condemns-human-rights-violations-in-turkey/
- Stupp, C., & Gotev, G. (2016). Merkel-Davutoglu wheeling-dealing wrecks EU summit.

 Retrieved 06.04.2018, from Euractiv https://www.euractiv.com/section/justice-home-affairs/news/merkel-davutoglu-wheeling-dealing-wrecks-eu-summit/
- Taureck, R. (2006). Securitization theory and securitization studies. *Journal of International Relations and Development*, 9(1), 53-61.
- The Italian Republic and the Libyan State. (2017). Memorandum of understanding on cooperation in the fields of development, the fight against illegal immigration, human

- trafficking and fuel smuggling and on reinforcing the security of borders between the State of Libya and the Italian Republic. Retrieved 08.02.2018 http://eumigrationlawblog.eu/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/MEMORANDUM_translation_finalversion.doc.pdf
- The Netherlands Institute for Human Rights. (2017). Human Act or Devil's Pact? Human rights aspects of migration agreements between EU and third countries. Retrieved 07.02.2018 http://www.commissie-meijers.nl/sites/all/files/media/paper_human_act_or_devils_pact_eng_def_18.05.2017 .pdf
- The Norwegian Nobel Committee. (2012). Nobels Fredspris for 2012. Retrieved 20.04.2018 https://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/peace/laureates/2012/press-no.html
- Thielemann, E. (2003). European burden-sharing and forced migration. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 16(3), 225-358.
- Thielemann, E. (2008). The Future of the Common European Asylum System. *European Policy Analysis*(1), 1-8.
- Thielemann, E. (2018). Why Refugee Burden-Sharing Initiatives Fail: Public Goods, Free-Riding and Symbolic Solidarity in the EU. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 56(1), 63-82.
- Thielemann, E., & El-Enany, N. (2010). Refugee protection as a collective action problem: is the EU shirking its responsibilities? *European security*, 19(2), 209-229.
- Thielemann, E. R. (2005). Symbolic Politics or Effective Burden-sharing? Redistribution, Side-payments and the European Refugee Fund. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 43(4), 807-824.
- Toygür, İ., & Benvenuti, B. (2016). The European response to the refugee crisis: Angela Merkel on the move. *Sabancı Üniversitesi: Istanbul Policiy Center*.
- Trauner, F. (2016). Asylum policy: the EU's 'crises' and the looming policy regime failure. *Journal of European Integration*, 38(3), 311-325.
- Trauner, F., & Kruse, I. (2008). EC visa facilitation and readmission agreements: A new standard EU foreign Policy tool? *European Journal of Migration and Law, 10*(4), 411-438.

- Trauner, F., & Ripoll Servent, A. (2016). The communitarization of the Area of Freedom, Security and Justice: Why institutional change does not translate into policy change. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 54(6), 1417-1432.
- Triandafyllidou, A., & Dimitriadi, A. (2014). Deterrence and Protection in the EU's Migration Policy. *The International Spectator*, 49(4), 146-162.
- Tsourdi, E. L., & De Bruycker, P. (2015). EU asylum policy: In search of solidarity and access to protection. (9290843136). Retrieved 04.05.2018, from Migration Policy Centre http://cadmus.eui.eu/handle/1814/35742
- Uçarer, E. M. (2006). Burden-shirking, burden-shifting, and burden-sharing in the emergent European asylum regime. *International Politics*, *43*(2), 219-240.
- Uçarer, E. M. (2013). The Area of Freedon, Security, and Justice *European Union Politics* (pp. 281-295). United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Ulusoy, K. (2016). The Cyprus Conflict: Turkey's Strategic Dilemma. *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, 18(4), 393-406.
- UNHCR. (2015). A million refugees and migrants flee to Europe in 2015. Retrieved 03.04.2018 http://www.unhcr.org/news/press/2015/12/567918556/million-refugees-migrants-flee-europe-2015.html
- UNHCR. (2016a). Refugees and Migrants Sea Arrivals in Europe Retrieved 19.03.2018, from The UN Refugee Agency https://data2.unhcr.org/ar/documents/download/53447
- UNHCR. (2016b). UNHCR viewpoint: 'Refugee' or 'migrant' Which is right? Retrieved 22.04.2018, from UNHCR http://www.unhcr.org/news/latest/2016/7/55df0e556/unhcr-viewpoint-refugee-migrant-right.html
- UNHCR. (2018). Mediterranean situation. Retrieved 06.02.2018 http://data2.unhcr.org/en/situations/mediterranean
- Van Evera, S. (1997). *Guide to methods for students of political science*: Cornell University Press.
- Waever, O. (2014). Securitisation theory International Relations (Video). Retrieved 16.04.2018, from YouTube https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wQ07tWOzE_c

- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48(2), 311-325.
- Zalan, E. (2015). EU publishes delayed report on Turkey's sins. Retrieved 14.04.2018, from EU Observer https://euobserver.com/political/131041
- Zaun, N. (2016). Why EU asylum standards exceed the lowest common denominator: the role of regulatory expertise in EU decision-making. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 23(1), 136-154.
- Zaun, N. (2017). *EU asylum policies: the power of strong regulating states*. United Kingdom: Palgrave Macmillan.